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TO [IF. HONOURABLE

THE COURT kOF DIRECTORS
OF THE

EAST INDIA COMPANY.

i ——

HONOURABLE SIRS,

I beg to state to your Honourable Court, that the Memorial which I have now the
honour to submgg, with the accompanying Appendix, was written and placed in the
hands of Sir George Abercombie Robinson when Chairman; who had spontaneously
and kindly promised to peruse it, previously to its being officiully"brought before the
Court ; but the sudden and serious indisposition of that Gentleman occurring soon
after, he was prevented from giving it that attention which he had promised ; and by
some accident attributable to the same regretted event, the original document was
mislaid, 50 as not to have been recoverable. It has been with consderable difficulty,
and not without reference to India, that the present Copy has been prepared for sub-
mission; which I hope may be considered as accounting for the time which has elapsed
since its original date.

1 have the honour to be,
Honourable Sirs,

Youp most obedient humble Servant,

JOHN HA!I»E-

Bedford ngr.»;rN;u. 1831,



TO THE
Honourable the Court of Directors

OF THE

EAST IND1A COMI'ANY.

"IOoNOURABLE Sims.

AS & Drother, resident in London of Mr, ALExaNpER Hank, who held
during the y'ea;-s 1813, 1814, 1815, 1816 and 1817, the situatipn of the Honourable
Company’s Kesident at Banjarmasin, in the Island of Borneo, and who is now absent
from Eusope,—I fecl it an imperative duty to solicit the attention of your Honourable
Court to the following statement of facts, and respectful application on bis behalf. T
am paturally extremely desirous to avoid prolixity in this appeal ; but it is unfortunately
impossible to render that appeal intelligible, without boubling your Honourable
Court with an explanatory outline of my brothi’s complicated case. 1 beg leave to.
represent to your IHonourable Court, that the individual on whose behalf I address
you, was for ten ycars previous to the capture of Java by the Dritish, a merchant,
resident at Malacea, where hLis concerns had been extensive and successful. In
conscquence of the commercial intercourse which he had industrioyply culiivaled with
many of the independent Malay states adjacent to Java, he was enabled to assist ma-
terially by bis information, and otherwise, the objects of the British expedition for the
capture of that island, and partly in complianie with the wishes of the Honourable
Company's Official Authorities, he accompanied the expedition from Malacca. Not
being in the Honourable Company's service, he had, however, no intentious or views
in so doing, further than what were strictly connecied with bis own commercial
pursuits. "

After the surrender of the island to the British, he was induced to engage, on the
part of the Honourable Company, in trangacting some political arrangements at Pa.
lambang, in Sumatra ; and it soon after was considered by the gentleman who had
received the appointment of Lieut t-Governor, with whom he had long previously
enjoyed the most confidential intercourse, that his local knowledge, and pgculiar ex«
perience, might be of advantage to the intercsts of the Honourable Company, in bring-
ing under useful conwoul the Piratical ports on, and ingthe vicinity of the Island of
Borneo, and in extopding on a permanent basis fhe opp’oﬂunities for British Commerce
in those seas, even on the’evintual surrender of the Duich Cofonies seand accordingly,
with the full sanction, and, ander the instruction of Lord Minmto, my Brother received
the sppointngnt of the Hofyourable Company’s ¢ Resident at Banjarmasin, and Come~
missioner for eo ;¢ whith, appointment, with specific liberty to trade. was afier.
wards conffimed by b Marqufp of Hastings
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Licutenant-Governor Raffles had appointed my Brother to be Resident st Banjar.
masin, not only from his qualifications for performipy the peculiar services I have just
described, but likewise fronfl his possessing conslderable capital, extensive comnerclal
connections, and a willingneps to engage his whole energies of every description, in the
Commercial and Agricultural ent@prize which the new situation might present, The
Lieutenant- Governor contemplated, in the establishment of Banjarmusin, a depot
establishment for British trade, analogeus in its nature to that which he afterwards
succeeded in forming, under more fortunate circumstances, at Singapore ; and I am
sure it will be admitted by any candid person who can judge of what was requisite for
such an undertaking, afd who is acquainted with the means possessed by the indivie

»dual who en.gaged in it, that a choice could not bave been made more likely to accog-
plish the object in view.

Nothing can be a stronger proof, that, as well as the application of my Brother’s
mind, the employment of his capital was contemplated # the period of bis aBpoins.
ment, than that he was an exceptien to the general regulations of the service, in being
exclusively allowed td'trade ; and farther, that he was specifically sanctioned by
Government in the acceptance individually of a grant of land from the Sultan, In
fact, it was equally evident, that had it not been for the field which the public in-
terests of this New Settlement seemed to open for investiture of capiga! in individual
enterprize, nothing could have induced a Gentleman, possessed as he was of an ade.
quate fortune, to have engaged In a service which held forth no important salary, and
was In its nature considered so hazardous, and destructive to all personal comfort, that
no British Assistant could be found to accompany him to the place. It is probable a
difference of opinion may exist as to the public policy of fqrming the settlement, and
of thus attempting to unite public and private interests in its advancement ; but there
can be no doubt that such were the views of the Lieutenant.Governor ; and as a proof
that the correctness of those views were not in his opinion invalidated by any abuse of
trust in the Individual so engaged, the personal regard of that Gentleman, after re.
viewing all that time had elicited, continued unimpaired, and has alwags been fear.
Iessly referred to in exculpation.

The geographical situation of Banjarmasin, its ancient predominating authority on
the Bornean Coast, its numerous and peaceable population, its valuable productions,
and its then recently established independence of all European Sovereignty, had re-
commended it to the selection of the Lieutenant-Governor of Java, as the most ad-
vantageous part in those seas for a permanefit British establishment. My Brother was
therefore instructed to negociate with the native Prince, on the part of the Honourable
Company, for an cstablishment on the basis of his (the Sultan’s) complete indepen-
dence of afly other European Power; and this task he performed to the perfect
satisfaction of the authority from which he received his appointment. His letter of
introduction disccted his atterftion to various objects—many of wilith were of difficult
accomphshment, requirimg his personal exertions in unusual ser¥ice, which he con-
tributed with a spirit, which observers at the time consylered almost enthusiastic.
He made long and hazaxdous excursions on foot farther int%e Interior, and round the
Coast, than any European had before penetrated, to obtaiA correct information.; and
concloded a. Treatv with the reionine Sultan. ceding an edtensiva district of territorv to
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than swer were possessed on that Coast by the Dutch, or any other Eurepean Power.
The results of his negociations and atrrangements were likewise completely successful,
in the transformation of the several Piraticai States in the fmmediate vicinity of Ban.
jarmasin, which had Jong been almost entirely destructiye of all the country trade of
Java, into peaceful ports of advantageous Commercd,

The daring Piratical activity of the Port of Sambas, on another part of the Coast
of Borneo, was at that moment extremely annoying to the Commerce of Java ; and
it appeared 1o the Lieutenant-Governor, that some decided measure became necessary
for its suppression. My Brother was therefore, ou the 23d of July, 1813, called
back from his residence, and sent on a mission to Pontianay to negociate with the
Snl‘tlu of that place, for the establishment of a Commercial Resident ; md. for certain
oco-operative measures, which were considcred necessary to the success of General
Gillespie's expedition against the neighbouring port of Sambas.

Soommafter his return to Jwva, from the accomplishment of this mission, it was
deemed expedient by the Government under which he acted, to establish at Banjar-
masin, a species of convict Colony, for Javanese offenders of various classes, under
the management of my Brother, The unsettled state of the Island, the entire failure
of a projected convlct station on the Island of Carimon-Java, and the capture at that
juncture of & pargy of Javanese—who had been principally active in a recent insurrec-
tion in the district of Cheribon, and could not with safety be allowed again at that
time to mix with their countrymen,—had crowded the miscrable prisons of the Island
tn a degree truly distressing, and compelled Government to adopt some measures to
diminish the evil. To convey them across the narrow straits which separate Java from
Borneo to a fertile country; the people and babits of which were originally from
Java, appeared the mildest method of punishment that could bedevised ; and to divest
it an much as pessible of all penal terrors, voluntary emigration of the Javanese
thither was encouraged to a certain extent, with a view of amalgamating the whole
collective mass into 4 small Javanese Colony, which would not require an expensive
military superiptendence; but in whose fidelity, on the contrary, the Resident might
look with confidence for some degree of protection. My Brother exerted himself
most laboriously in the accomplishment of the measure, which, I do not hesitate to
dedlare, on a perfect knowledge of all the facts, originated in the most humane motives,
and was conducted in every step with the most scrupulous regard to what eniighteneé,
just, and benevolent feelings would dictate. The new Colony soon consisted of about
2,000 inhabitants, of whom, all but a very small number were regularly adjudicated
convicts, and the remainder voluntary settlers. He organized this population into a
small township, regulated according to the native Javancee Institutions as modified by
the Lieutenant-Governor.

All bis proceedings weresnot only authorized by, but were principally the result of
personal communicatidh with the Lieutenant-Governor, #ith whom he®almost con-
swndy resided whea ® Java, and whose confidence, a8 alreadysohserved, he had long
enjoyed. This frequent intgreourse diminished, in & great d.egree, Yhe necessity of
letters ; but the following fxtract from an Official Government Letter, dated 24ih
January, 1814, will confirnd_the statements I have made :—% Such offenders as may
from time to time ke tragaporte2 to Banjarmasin, not being generally of & ption
requiring confinement lﬂwmims‘ may be considered as free in every respecty but that
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of returning to Java before the expiration of their sentence ; and maintalned by
Government until setiled in a way to support themselves.”—* The Hon. Lieutenant-
Govemeor in Council, appﬁwen of your aceepting the Park and Grounds, which the
Sultan in his letter mention/ having given you, for your private residence. He also
authorises your sclecting for yourfelf portions of Land on the Cosst, the prrticulars of
which may be hereafter specified 5 and further, you are permitted to make sach grants
of Lands from the waste ceded country, as you may deem advisable, sn arder to in-
duce the Chinese and Natives of Borneo to settle there, to such an extent as may be
necessary to bring the same into cultivation.”

Not long after the capture of Java by the Britlsh, Lord Minto, in concurrence with
whose instructions the establishment at Banjarmasin had been formed, returned to
Europe, and it soon appeared that the Marquis of Hastings, who succeeded him, did
not acqulesce in the views of the Lieutenant.Governor of Java, regarding the political
importance of that Settkement. This became evident bf the first despatch spetifically
on the subject, whil:El confirmed my Brother in his situation of Resident ; but all
ulterior objects in the settlement were ordered to be relinquished, except so far as con-
cerned the prevention of piracy.

These instructions from Bengal were unfortunately only made known after the con-
vict Colony had been formed, and after the principal expence of the ggtablishment had
been incurred. My Brother had likewise procecded far ir the investiture of private

, funds,~—both in advance on the public service, and on his own account. And your
Honourable Court will easily perceive, what an unpleasant involvement at once pre-
sented itself to his reflection, on discovering the utter discrepance between the opiniorns
of the supreme and subordinate adthorities,

Thus, the state of affais at once became seviously perplexing. A large amount
of my Brother’s own capital was absolutely dispersed in the regular expences of the
settlement, as ke had up to this perlod never received one farthing from the Public
Treasury, the state of the Java Government finances being at that time considerably
embarrassed, except 10,000 dollars which he took with him when heefirst left Java.
Two thousand individuals, almost entirely offenders against the laws of Java, at a
considerable expence had been collected, requiring protection and maintenance 3 for
even the small proportion inclined to be industrious could not, and were not origi-
ginally by Government supposed to be capable of maintaining themselves, *

The change of policy thus announced, occasioned my Brother again to be summoned
to Batavia. In the first place he saw the'nc‘d'essi:y of receiving payment of the money
he had advanced ; and in the second place, of endeavouring to obtain from Govern-
ment some specific instructions how the future affairs of the settlement were to be
conducted,

He rendered his accounts, and after the most scrupulous audit of the Iate Mr.
Assey, (Sccretary to Gov‘e‘rnmcnt), and Mr. Bauer, (the Accountant General) re-
ceived payment“of nea'ly theiruamauﬁt; but in that liquidatiolt, there was not one
farthing included which in common equity could have “cen withheld. New instruc-
tions were given him by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council, In accordance, as far s
possible, with the Governor-General’s Ietter. Every evertion was recommended to
economisy;the expenditure ; but as there had been no Previour extravagance, economy
could accomplish no material diminution,—What Way dant"_ could not be undonc ;
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all proposed ulterior objects were to be abandoned ; but as 2,000 people were neces-
sarily to continue there who could not maintain themselves, and mast be maintained,
it was evident very little essential dimtoution of upenﬂl?me could take place, An
arrangement was at last adopted, which there was reasdn to think would reduce the
expences, and retain the Settlement in stafu quo, for the future consideration of the
Supreme Government ; which, when it should be informed what had been effected pre.
viously to its first letter, it was thought might in some degree alter the views which it
had expressed.

The outlines of the arrangement were, that 200 of the mgst troublesome hardened
convicts, should be removed to Banka; that 600 should be considered as a regalar
chgrge on the Java Police, and that my Brother, on receiving a certain allowance per
head, (less than what was charged by the Farmer of the Chain Labourers at Batavia),
would in a manner engage to support the whole remaining 1800,—le being to accom-
plish this,~permitted to edfiploy the whole in what mannet he could best devise, to
cause them 2o contribute to their own maintenance.

This arrangement was formed on estimales, and involved many contingencies in the
execution , and the very principle whereby it was to reduce the expenditure, and bring
it within a certain established quarterly payment, was from the hopes my Brother had,
of rendering 1®e labours of the Javanese In some degree productive of thelr support.
This necessarily involved still farther investiture of his own capital, and, therefore,
the permanence of the settlement; or indemnity for personal investiture resulting
from this arrangement, in case of abandonment, were in various official lctters from
my Brother urged as an equitable implied part y the plan, and although the subor«
dinate Government felt self restrained from glving any pledge on the subject, it
promised ‘¢ a favourable reference of the points to the Governor-General in Council.”
This state of circumstances was by no means satisfactory ; but my Brother was so
situated, that unless he sacrificed all he had done, and culpably abandoned the Colony
to certain disaster, he could not retreat.

Persuading himaelf, and confiding that the equity of the Supreme Government
would at any after period, indemnify him for any absvlutely compulsory involvement,
he went over to Banjarmasin again to carry into execution what had thus been pro-
posed. Ile immediately exerted himself in devising various methods to call forth the
Industry of the people, in the ways best suited to their former habits, He devoted all
his attention to the one object, of diminishing to the smallest possible sum, what
shonld be expended in the indispensable demands of the mouths he bad to feed. I
shall not attempt to detail his proceedings ; but, while a ship was building, land was
bringing under cultivation, and cxertions were made to call forth the internal pro.
ductions of the country. The result of the whole was a thriving and Iml‘;py commu-
nity. Events soon, however, occurred which ruined all’his prospects, and rendered his
situation still more embarrassing, Lieutenant-Governor Raffles, undér whom he had
continued to act With the utmost reclprcal ednfidence, was lupeneﬂed, and the treaty
of Peace became known in?India, by which the Colony of Juva and its dependencies
were to be restored to the Dutch. These facis of themselves were endugh to occasion
the utmost apprehension £y the loss of his large invested property ; but in additlam he
had the rgortifigg'ion‘to find that misrepresentations regarding the settl t of Ban.
farmasin, angd his cqxduc{ usalesldcnt, had Been conveyed to Bengzl,erfw:nature ta
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induce the Governor-General to order an investigation as to their truth. Very soom
after the arrival of Lieutenant-Governor Fendall, and the new Government at Java,
two Commissions were apfointed—-one to examine in the Island of Java into the
mode of forming the Colonyy and another to proceed to Banjarmasin, to investigate the
actual state of the Settlement.

These investigations, although in part referring to my Brother, it.was evident in-
volved indirectly the authority under which he acted ; and probably had it not been
for that collateral reference, the imputations on which they were founded, would never
bave resched the attention of the Bengal Government. My Brother had, however, no
right nor reason to dispute the propriety of investigation ;~because, if doubts existed,
from whatever spirit they originated, investigation alone could do him justice. But
!mmtigltim'i should have been conducted with a scrupulous regard to aveid a betraying
the secret prejudices of those who undertook it, if such prejudices existed ;—and when,
on the contrary it was copducted, so as at every step to develope a prejudged cendem-
nation ; and when some of those on whom the important duty was devolved, were those
who it was well knowrl had private animosities to gratify, not against him, but against
the Government under which he acted,—it could not fail to frustrate any chance of dis.
covering the truth ; and to become, whatever were the result, a certain means of severe
injustice. Tt is this species of injustice of whirh my Brother has had go complain.

On the first arrival of Mr, Fendall, my Brother was ordered to repair immediately
to Java with his accounts,—Had I not unexpectedly joined him at Banjarmasin at this
crisls, T can positively state, that it would have been impossible to have obeyed this
order, without endangering the lives of the whole people. As soon, however, as he
could make the necessary arrsngem“tu for his absence, he went to Java, leaving my-
self as his Jopum tenens, with his accounts, made out exactly as on former occasions;
having scnt before him a report as to the state of the Scttlement, and a respectful
statement, explaining his peculiar position, and soliciting consideration as to his pri.
wvate investiture.

The instructions of the Governor-General in Council regarding these jgvestigations,
as communicated at this time to my Brother, direct the new Java Government to in-
vestigate ¢ The extent to which the private fortunes of individuals, especially Mr.
HaRE, were embarked in the settlement, with the permission or the encouragement of
the'Java Government,” thereby apparently or virtually acknowledging the validity of
any claims which could be cstablished on that principle.

The retiring Lieutenant-Governor had likewise, in a private letter, in answer to
several very urgent representations from my Brother, of his necessary dependance on
the equity of Grovernment, promiscd to communicate favourably with the Supreme
Governmem tegarding his situation, which there is no doubt had been done. It be-

' came, therefore, his duty to furnish, along with his report on, the public affairs of the
lement, a statement of hissprivate Involvement in the public trinsactions.

n his arrival at Batgyia, he bound that a Commission had just left the Coast for
%u‘amuin, to ekecute one branch of the investigation gbefore mentioned. Some
correspondence wok place between him and the Government at this juncture, of no
inipgrtance to be now read, except as developing the state of feeling between the cor«
responding parties, and which I only mention from & wish‘to be accurate in my narra-
tive, He stlited in his letters, his reasons why Governkient, hq thought, should not
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remove the Javanese Convicts from Borneo ; and should nat, without further re.
ference, give up the Settlement, as he shewed it could not be included in the treaty of
Peace, it having not been at the capture of Java, a deperdancy of that Colony ; but
formally relinquished for a valuable consideration to the native Prince, previous to
that event. He was blamed for not coming over momr.lmd ¢ recommended” to go
back. I can testify he could not have come sooner ; and had he gone back, to place
himself under the orders of the Commission, according to the Government letter,
serlous evils would have resulted. He, however, proceeded to obey the recommenda-
tion ; but before he could embark, the Comamissioncrs arrived at Batavia.

They had proceeded immediately to embark the whole J#vanese Colony, destining
them to be landed in Java ; but the Dutch authorities refused them admission on the
Isfind. After a period of distressing confinement on board the vessels, a €ommission
was appointed jointly by both Governments ; and the poor Convicts who by good con-
duct had earned redemptiog from all further punishinent, which my Brother by
authority of his Government had assured them, were again subjected to a new trial.
Some were allowed to go free into Java ; but many were destinal to new punishments
of various kinds, and to a new transportation; and not a few to slavery of the most
appaling kind, in the tin-mines of Banca.

It may be proper to mention here, as explaining the difficult predicament in which
at that time my Brother's private fortune was placed by these events, that in accord.
ance with the arrangement adopted for the reduction of the public expenditure by
employing the Javanese Convicts, a ship of 400 tons burthen had been commenced,
and at the time when the Commissioners removed the British flag, was so far advanced,
that it could not have been relinquished without geat loss, The ship was building
on the land, which by a grant from the Sultan, as sanctioned by the Government,
belonged to my Brother ; and although the Commussioners removed the British flag,
they saw the propricty of in some degree exacting from the Sultan, the protection of
the ship-building establishment.  Ihey likewise supplied, on purchase from the
Government, ordnance and stores—the means of defending the spot from the attacks
of the neighbouring barbarians and pirates ; and ullowed auch of the Javanese to
continue on wages as were inclined to remain. In this way, thougl at a very con.
siderable increasc of expenditure from what was originally contemplated, the ship
Borneo was completed. .

On the return of the Banjarmasin Commissioners to Batavia, their attention was
directed to the settlement of my Brother's official accounts, and to the consideration of
his claims for indemnification, on account of private losses, and unavoidable expendi.
ture in the public concerns of the settlement, Ilis accounts with Government were,
from the unusual nature of his situation,—-distance from the seat of Goveament,=-
and deficiency of assistants,—necessarily of a description which would have required
for his security, at lerst the liberal confidence never refused to all men, who had ever
enjoyed a character for honourable intention. , Thas character he had always main.
tained in the estimation of the authority under whom he had actedy and who was,
from long habits of intimacy, most able to judge of him, and certainly wost interested
in the fact. It would have been no unusual indulgence to have considered his aanc.
100 85 pr‘im&:fucie proof of Mtegrity. 1f an individual undertake any political object
under the cdgnizanke and enjoyiyg the confidence of an authority, which is dsapproved
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of by suctessors, Eberal policy sheuld bave dictated, that he should be allowed to
emancipate himself from the disapproved measure, as secure from individual injury,
as public justice could admit, It was, however, my Brother's misfortune to be sub-
jected to the authority of who scemed not actnated by such principles 5 and any
deference to the lately retire? Government was very far from securing o him indul-
gent consideration. The three Commissioners and the late Mr, Asscy examined the
accounts, and the accompanying vouchers, certainly not with the most accommodating
or indulgent #pirit ; and much unpleasant discussion occurred. The accounts were in
form exactly the same as on former occasions ; but in consequence of some difference
of opinlon as to the perisd at which they should be closed—from the Bengal official
year terminating in April, and the accounts having been made up to the 31st Decem-
ber—the whole were new-modelled, at various-meetings with my Brother, by them-
selves,—and written out at the Secretary’s office, in such a form as they approved—ad-
mitting such items only es they thought sufficiently authenticated by vouchers® They
expressed on the part of Government, & most anxious desire to liquidate the accounts ;
and gave it clearly tosbe understood, that if the accounts were to he givin in as pre-
scribed, an immediate liquidation would be the result. To all this my Brother con-
sented, submitting to the exclusion of trifling entries, where time to obtain substan-
tiating vouchers was requisite. The diminution of the total amqpnt, after these
alterations was very unimportant. They likewise assumed to take into consideration
his claims for remuneration on account of losscs, and uecessury, although in some de-
gree unauthorised expenditure,——and acquiesed in the admission of two heads of 13-
demnity, on condition that he would agree to waive all others. Of these two heads
of claims, they agreed to lay befor#ethe Javanese Government such accounts as it was
then in my Brother’s power to submit. So entirely was it with an understanding on
the part of my Brother, that immediate settleinent was to be the result of this adjust-
ment, that the accounts and settlement were not only made out in the Government
offices, but given in without my Brother retaining any copies ;—and accompanied with
a letter aigncd by my Brother, the original sketch of which was from thg pen of one of
the Commissioners, and is now in my possession.

About the time that this apparent adjustment was in progress, my Drother received
8 letter from the Government, containing a numbcer of queries on his conduct, on
which he was required to furnish explanation. The queries in this letter, he supposed
to have originated in some report furnished by the Commissioners who had visited
Banjarmasin, and the whole of these queries had reference to mistaken facts, and mis-
understood parts of his policy. They were just such as were likely to strike obscrvers,
who had enjoyed no previous explanation as to intention ; and rather inclined to un.
favourable conjectures as to integrity of motive.

About this time, be had likewise obtained, unofficially, the perusal of a report by the
Gentleman op whom had bgen devolved by Lieutenant-Goverfor Fendall, the duties
of a Comnmissioner for investigaking qn Java, the mede in whicl# the Colony at Ban-
jarmasin had becn formed. My Brother was in bad hgalth, confined by these cir-
cumatances to _the vicisity of Datavia, and without the assistance of even a competent
Clerk. He produced, however, without much delay—ag is but too evident from the
composition—two thick folios of defence, and afforded a%andid and full explanation of
all the pofnts of his conduct, which kad been misudderstoody or mim'pr:'scmcd. In
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these volumes he remarked in a bold, but not indecorous language on the manmer in
which the investigation had been conducted in Java, which he certainly comsidered
unfair,—and raturally was betrayed into 8 warm expression of his offended feelings, at
being suspected of acting from motives which he had ever detcsted.

These explanations were transmitted to the British Government authorities in Java
very soun after the accounts :—a long silence of several months ensued; and there is
perhaps reason to suspect that the intended settlement of accounts was unfortunately
again broken off, more from something which had been expressed in this volume of
defence, than from any real canse of postponement connected with the accounts.

My Brother waited long in expectation that he wouldsobtain a communication,
summoning him to receive the payment of his accounts, and likewise some expression
of the Government’s sentiments on the perusal of the explanatory papers which he had ’
submitted. No notice on either subject was however conveyed to him, until the pre-
parati=ns for the departure ¢f the Government became evident. Remembering that
in full expectation of payment, be had retsined no copies of his accounts, he thought
it prudent—perceiving them on the point of leaving Java—on the 25th of Juue, 1818,
to address a short letter to the Secretary, explaining the deficiency, and soliciting copies
of his accounts and vouchers, or leave to copy them. In reply to this letter on the
27th of June, tgo days after, he received a letter from the Secretary, expressing “ that
the original vouchers requested, were at that time packed up”’—and * that it has been
impossible to furnish copies of them at present ;’—and further, “ that a letter had
been written to their Excellencies the Commissioners General of Netherlands India,
requesting that if any application should be made to have papers authenticated, the
Officers of the present Government may be insteucted to cffcct the same when re.
quested.” This letter inclosed one to the Sccretary of the New Netherlands Govern-
ment of Java, informing him that ¢ Mr. HARE might require the assistance of
Government in settling und authenticating his unsettled account on the Island, and re-
questing the assistance to be given accordingly.”

On the sare day, 28th June, the very day on which Mr, Fendall, and most of the
Government embarked for Bengal, he likewise reccived another letter from the Scere-
tary, commencing with the following passage : —* I am dirccted to acknowledge the
receipt of your letter, with your replies and explanations, on the points on which you
were called upon to reply.”” This bare acknowledgement of the receipt of his defence,
is all the distinct communication, after a lapse of many months, which Mr. Fendall
and his Councll ever indulged him with regarding it. A defence so voluminouse—
having refirence to so many points which bad been considercd as requiring explana-
tion—would, it might have been supposcd, have called forth sumething like a definite
notice. If the whole of the explanations were deemed unsatisfactory-ythe whole
deered satisfactory——or only a part sc—justice towards iy Brother should have in.
duced them to state Apecifically the result of their seflecsions. It was, as this letter
proves, contemplatd by the Board, that he was to zemain some time in Java, to ac-
complish more completely, suthenticated statements of his acconnti and claims, than
he had been able under circumstances to produce ; and it ‘was known that in that
quarter alone, he could likewise collect evidence on, what was much more important to
him than pecuniary concerdk, in farther explanation of any harges brought against
him, or in’corsoberatian of an* parts of his Acfence, on which they mi- ht deem the
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evidence incomplete, Surely then he should have been put in possession of the exact
state of thelr convictions or intentions towards him j—and if silent then{when he
alone had it in his power te collect further evidence in his defence) it was almost in-
cumbent upon them to have becn silent ever afier. But after having, by giving a
degree of publicity to their suspicions and investigations, shewn themselves perfecily
reckless of his fair fame—appointed Commiassion on C iesion, comprising in them
the individuals who, there was good reason to believe, had propagated the unfavourable
reports, and were then, and continued to be, in personal feeling at open hostility with
Sir Stamford Ruffles,—collected accusatory matter of all kinds, from all quarters,—
and rendered him the subject of universal remark, from one end of the Island to the
other,—the British authorities withdrew in mysterious silence as to the r own, deduc-
tions, or leaving them to be decyphercd from one or two ambiguous phroses. On“the,
day of their departure, they condescended to do Jittle more than acknowledge the
receipt of his uplanntio‘ns, which had at that time been gseveral months befors them,
1 sball have occasion to refer to this Jetter again in another part of this appeal ; but I
may here remark, thawthe whole tenor and manner of it suggest, that the cause of the
scttlement being deferred, originated more in the feeling generated in the discussion
with him, than in real convictions as to the validity or importance of the charges
brought against him.

My Brother was thus left in Java, without copies of the accounts or vouchers which
he had, under the above circumstances, rendered ; and 't will be evident that he could
not accomplish the required authentication, or discover what was deficient, without
possessing a knowledge of what existed. He therefore waited some months in expecs
tation, that on the arrival of Lieutenant-Governor Fendall, and the Members of his
Administration at Calcutts, copies of such documents woulll be transmitted to him, as
he had at their departure so anxiously requested. Not, however, receiving any com-
munication, be, on the 10th April, 1818, addressed them again on the subject ; but
never was favoured with any reply.

Not long after the British Government finally withdrew from Java, my Brother and
myself became subject to a scries of to us then, unaccountable acts of persecution on
the part of the Dutch Government—tending almost to frustrate any attempls to recover
outstanding debts, or te obtain authentication of the required accounts. Several small
vessels belonging to my Brother, in my management, were placed under detention and
seizure, without any apparent or even assigned cause. In an equally inexplicable
manner we were personally placed under civil arrest in different parts of the Island ;
and finally my Brother was peremptorily ordered to leave the island of Java, and all
the Netherland Indian settlements within six months, This order was in direct viola-
tion of the Leaty of Peace, which provided six years from its date, for the retirement,
if 8o required, of any British subject ; and was unaccompanied with any explanation
of the cause. ’.I‘hese praceedjngs much surprised my Brother; dut of course were
obeyed, under protest. The amgunt of losses to my Drother gonsequent on this
violent and suddeq mcasﬁ're, it is difficult even yet to cakculate, as it occurred at a
moment when his capitalato a very large amount, was engaged in various transactions
on the island of Java and vicinity, which it was impossible to bring to a sudden close.
1 accompanied my Brother on his leaving Java. He took &ith him newly formed ac.
counts of hisglaims on Government, autbenticated as fag as he was atfie to alcomplish
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under such distressing circomstanees, and more completely than before, by the afida.
vits of his assistants. He likewise took with him a narrative at length of all his trans.
actions, while in the employment of the Honcurable Company, substantiated Ly the
Officlal documents, and regular affidavits of every individusl of respectability, who had
been in his employment during the time,

He had written an appeal to the Right Honourable the Governor-General, soliciting
that his accounts and claims might be submitted to any arbitration or Commission im«
partially appointed at Calcutta, to investigate their validity, Circumstances arising
out of the conduct of the Dutch Government towards him, and the complicated and
embarrassing state of his concerns, then prevented him from preceeding immediately to
Calcutta; but he appointed Mr. Thomas Miln to proceed there with the documents
ami;apers just alluded to, and in conjunction with his friend Mr. David Ciack of the
mercantile firm of Messrs, Ferguson and Co. to represent him and explain his
case ; and stated that if his attgndance there were required, he would immediately pro
ceed thither, on the wish to that effect being communicated to him. In the mean.
while, to await the decision on the subject, he proposed to takesup his abode at the
Cape of Good Hope, where he requested to be addressed.

With a view that his proceedings might be fully made known to, and understood by
Sir Stamford ‘Rafﬂes, he proceeded in the first mnstance to Bencoolen, where he had the
satisfaction of submitting to that Gentleman a copy of the appenl just mentioned-——the
narrative he had drawn up of his transactions, substantiated by affidavits—and every
document and letter which hiad passed between him and the late Java Government.
The whole mass was then carefully examined by Sir Stamford Raffles; and I feel
much satisfaction iz having it in my power to testify, that the result proved his un~
diminished good opinion ; and the proposed arrangement received repeatedly, in my
presence, bis entire approbation, as the most hikely to obtain an equitable settlement of
the points in discussion,

My Brother, on leaving Bencoolen, proceeded in execution of his plan to the Cape
of Good Hope, where I parted with him, and proceeded to Europe,—intending as
early as possible after arrival, to appeal to his Majesty’s Government, with a view to
obtain some redress for the injuries so unjustly inflicted vn my Brother by the Nether-
tands Aathorities in Java.

In exccution of the plan which my Brother had proposed, in his appeal to the Right
Honourable the Governor-General, his friend Mr. Thomas Miln, a merchant resident
at Batavia, proceeded to Calcutta in November, 1822, in possession of full informa-
tion to support my Brother’s claim, and vindicate his conduct, if still impugned. On
his arrival at Calcutta, he found from the absence of the Marquis of Hastings, and
the Officers of Government, whose official services were essential to the adjuegment of
his claims, that no consideration of the subject could take place for some time, He
was therefore compellel, by the requisite attention to hisether concerns, to return to
Batavia, and defer the subject till ibe succeeding years He hu.i, however, during his
stay in Calcutta, communicatgl to Mr Fendall, who was then a Memter of Council,
the object of kis visit; and I feel it important to remark, that floreply was ever given
to my Brother's appeal to the Governor-General, nor any wish expressed to Mr. Miln,
although he had several confefences with the Gentleman officiating at that time ax
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Secretary to Government, that my Drother's personal attondance in Calcutta was
deemed essential.

At Mr. Miln's interviev. with Mr. Fendall. be entered into conversation on the
object which had ocmsimle‘d his visit to Caleutta. Mr. Fendall told him that Mr.
HAnrEe was mistaken in supposing that the Government * had any thing to say to him
on any other subject, than as to the settlement of his accounts, and to afford him a
reasonable remuneration for his losscs.” He expressed himself rather hurt it certain
parts of my Brother’s letter, to the Right Honourable the Governor.General, which
he deemed unnecessary ; and as his manner was in other respects friendly and con-
ciliatory, Mr. Miln felt so anxious to remove any thing which could be considercd
as an obstacle to a favourable accommodation of the existing discussiors, thas he ap-
plied to the Secretary of Government to have the letter, which appeared to hurt Mr.
Fendall’s feelings, officially withdrawn. This, of course, he found impossible, the
letter having been placed on rccord. My Brother wowld have been much wortified,
had thisattempt to withdraw his letter succeeded ; for there was not one syllable in it
but was aturally produced by the situation in which he was placed, and nothing more
than a due value for his own character required.

Mr. Miln returned to Calcuttain the following year, and on application, after some
delay, obtained a perusal of the accounts before rendered to the Java ffovernment : and
he forwarded to the Sccretary of Government, by desire, my Brother’s accounts and
statements of claim, as made out, with all the docum ents in corroboration. Various
interviews took place, and considerable time elapsed in occasional meetings. At last,
Mr. Miln reccived an Official communication which mach disappointed and astonish-
ed him. Its purport was to reject entirely all reference of the case to a separate
Commission,—to specify certain accounts which it a5zeed to liquidate,—and to reject
unconditionally the remainder. So far it might be considered as having a regular
Official reference to the pecuniary claims ; but ic will be scen, that all the mass ot in-
definite surmise against my Brother is revived, and the most severe expressions used
towards him. This was very far from what Mr. Miln had been led to expect from
Mr. Fendall, and certainly was a procedure of which my Brother bad reason to com-
plain.  He had solicited an investigation of his conduct,—tendered through his agents
documentary and other evidence in support of his defence,—and offired to attend per-
sonally in Caleutta, if it were deemed necessary. The Governor.General and Council
take no notice of his letter, and thus virtually refuse to make any further enquiry, and
assume to consider only the matter of account; but as if the evident act of harshness
they were about to commit, in wholly refusing a fair arbitration of his pecuniary
claims required some vindication, they seem to have aldopted the same ex parie accusa-
tion, of Which they no doubt had imbibed a belief, and which had, under similar clre
cumstances, been made use of by the Java Government. Thus, on all occasicns that
the accounts and claims havlt been discussed, indefinite surmises’ which he has not been
dllowed the opportunity of refuting, have been unfortuately tor my Brother intro-
duced, and effectually stifficd although not answered his¢lemauds.

The document to which I refer contains the resolution of the Right Honourable the
Governor-General in Council, under date the 2d of May, 1823, and communicates to
my Brother for the first time the fact, that on the 26th Dctober. 1817, the Governor-
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General in Council had come to the following severe resolution :—* With regard to
the proceedings, of Mr. HaRE, the late Resident in Banjarmasin, the Vice-President
in Council deews it superfluous to enter into a full discussjon of that branch of Mr,
Fendall's report, while Mr. HARE continues beyond the reach of the British autho.
rity, which precludes a regular investigation of the merits 3f the case. The informa.
tion now before Governmeut, however, is calculated, according to the judgment of the
Vice-President in Council, to excite the most unfavourable impressions regarding Mr.
Hang’s character and conduct ; and the Vice.President in Council apprebends that
Mr., Harg will {find great difficulty In vindicating himself, from the charge of having
sacrificed the public interests and reputation, to considerationseof his own private ad-
vantage,”—* With regard to Mr. HARE's accounts, the Vice-President in Council
renflirks, that no decision can properly be passed on them, until, according to the re.
quisition of the late Lieutenant-Governor in Council of Java, Mr. HArE shall ap«
pear by, himself, or by an Aggnt, at this Presidency, to explaip them, and furnish the
necessary vouchers.”

In addition to these two severe resolutions, the document likewise communicates an
extract from a despatch of the Secretary, to the Right Honourable the Governor-
General of the 4th December, 1817, expressing the following sentiments :—* From
the abstract of the report which accompanied your despatch, the Governor-General
has become acquainted with circumstances deeply affecting the character and conduct
of Mr. HARE ; but his Excellency agrees with the Vice.President in Council, in
judging It to be superfluous to enter Into any discussion of them, while Mr. Harg
continues beyond the reach of British authority. The Governor-General cannot,
however, withhold the declaration of his opinion, that the facts and circumstances de-
veloped by Mr. Fendall’s réport, warrant the conclusion that Mr. HaRe violated the
public trust reposed in him ; and sacrificed the honor and interests of the Dritish
Government for the attainment of objects of personal advantage.”

I cannot expect that my individual assertions, in exculpation of my Drother, from
the very serioys accusations thus authoritatively declared, of the Supreme Gavernment
at Bengal, and of the Right Honourable the Governo: General indivigually, can have
much weight with your Ionourable Court. I have fearlessly brought the extent of that
accusation under notice of your Honourable Court, from a full conviction that fuir in.
vestigation, which I maintain the subject has never yet received, will prove its invali=
dity ; and from a persnasion that your Honourable Court, by possessing a full know-
ledge of the serious wounds which thus have been given to the character of an indivi=
dual on ex parie statements, will feel the indispensable necessity of affording me
an opportunity to adduce such evidence as it may be in my power to offer in his
justification.

I feel it, however, incumbent on me to impress on the attention of your Honourable
Court, that the Vice-President 1n Council who formed she above quotgd resolution,
and the Right Honcurable Governor-Genersl who ss positiveiy expressed his accord-
ance with that resolution, Qoth avowedly ground their opinions of a report of Mr.
Fendall. My Brocher has, 1 fear, to regret that the defenct—or rather explanatory
matter, for he never had the good fortune to Rave been definitely accused—was never
referred to by those who recePred his report; and as Mr, Fendall retired from Java,
intending %o malle a report seydecidedly accusatory s that report mustdhave been,
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which could call forth from partics 5o respectable the language above quoted, it
might have been presumed justice would have induced him to communicate, with
some degree of precision, ‘ts probable nature, if not the specific points on which it was
founded, to the individual himsclf, whose character it was so scriously to implicate,
and who was then on the scene of the transaction, where he might have availed him.
self of the opportunity, if desirable, to collect still farther evidence in his defence.
Mr, Fendall, on the contrary, lefc my Brother quite in uncertainty, as to what opinion
was formed by himeelf and Council, of the explanations he had given ; und under cir-
cumstances which it was certain would prevent him, for many months, from vindicating
his character, from any‘new attack that should be made upon it. Hardly, however,
has he himself arrived in Calcutta, before he appears to have taken care to acoon;glhh
the object of obtaining from the Supreme Government, cthe decided committal of its
panction, to the harsh line of conduct into which he had been at first perhaps un-
warily betrayed, by too, readily imbibing the prejudices nof individuals, hostile to his
Predecessor's Government. To make a report on the investigations ordered, was per-
haps his official duty'; but If merely a report of evidence, my Brother's explenations
should not have been omiited ; and if a report of his own opinions, he should have
recollected that my Brother had not been fairly heard, and his opinions should have
been at least liberally diffident.

With particular reference to what I consider not thc least unjuss pare s the resolu-
tion of the Vice-President in Council, of October, 1817, which insinuates in plain
terms, that my Brother was intentionally continuing out of the reach of British authe.
rity, and which the Governor-General so unhesitatingly repeats, I feel it essential to
my Brother’s character to offer some explanatory remarks. From what I have already
stated, it will I bope be evident, that in July, 1817, Mr. Fendall and the Members of
his Government left my Brother on Java,—knowing that from the public events, his
whole private fortunc was piaced in a most hazardous and embarrassing predicament,
which nothing but the utmost personal attention on Java and vicinity could succeed in
extricating. They likewisc, as appears from their own official letter, knew, that before
he could be expected to urge with effect on the Bengal Government the liquidation of
his own acconnts and claims, he had to collect evidence which had by themselves been
considered essential for cheir verification, and which their letters instructed him to
furnish from individuals who had been in his employ, and who were then on Borneo,
or the distant parts of the island of Java. Was it, I appeal to your Honourable
Court, to be reasonably expected, that under these circumstances, he should in October
of the same year—about three months from their departure—be able to attend them in
Calcutta ?—and was it liberal or candid conduct in them to have allowed the Supreme
Govenmint to remain so ignorant of his real situation, as to form the conclusion
which is conveyed in its resolution—that he was timidly evading public eaquiry ?—a
conclusion wkich I do not h€sitate to say, it was morally impos§ible they could them.
selves at the time have pntertaindd.

If they really fiad thought that his attendance before the suthorities in Bengal was
important, the natural measure to attain the object with fairness towards the indivi-
dual, would have been to communicate their wishes on the subject, and intentiona in
case of non.compliance, in precise and unambiguous langunge to him, at their depar-
turce But all the “requisition,” as ht Is Inappropriatly denominated in the resolu-
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tion of the Vice-President in Council, was merely a sentence in thelir last letter, in-
forming him that it would be * necessary for him to attegd in Calcutta, for the ad-
justment of his accounts, and for the decision of the Supreme Government on his con-
duct and claims,” The introduction into this sentence of the single word * conduct,”
is the only hint with which he had been favoured, that his explanations had not entirely
obviated all neceasity for farther discussion, regarding his public acts; but this hint—
small as it was —certainly determined bim not to neglect entirely, the precaution of
obtaining affidavits from such of his assistants as were on Java, in corroboration of the
explanation he had already communicated ; and he certainly 'im.ended, when he had
accomplished this object and completed his accounts, to proceed to Calcutta—not to
awaifgbift to solicit that investigation, which it has been improperly lnslnuatsd he had
been anxious to avoid.

I am reluctant to touch on my Brother’s pecuniury concerns with the Java and
Bengal Governments, more thAn is absolutely indispensable tb render my narrative
complete; as 1 wish it to be clearly borne in mind by your Honourable Couxt, that
the present appeal has not for its object the support of pecuniary claims, but the vin.
dication of character, As the document, however, on which 1 have been remarking is
one which may have weight with your Honourable Court, I think it necessary to ex-
plain one point coBnected with the accounts, which if misunderstood, as it apparently
has been by the Supreme Government, may prove on a hasty view of the subject in-
jurious to the cause I am attempting to advocate.

When my Brother acceded to what he considered a settliment with the Banjar
masin Commissioners, it was on the principle, a8 expressed in his letter, that iame-
diate payment was to follow 4 and that the accounts of two heads of claims—.viz. the
use of shipping and debts due by natives on Borneo,—should be received as satisfac-
tory, although at that time not exactly ascertainable. The Honourable Board after~
wards withdrew their assent to, or more correctly speaking, refused to execute the
arrangement, requiring of him to furnish more perfect vouchers. Of course, if the
result of this &quiry, which they had charged him to make, cnabled him to pro-
duce accounte to a larger amount than before, can it be justly held up as remarkable,
that he should claim to the full amount he had ascertained ?—or, because under the
arrangement which had been by themselves put aside, he had proposed to waive, in
consideration of prompt settlement, all but two heads of claims, was he to be deemed
unreasonable, that in bringing his claims again under the notice of Government, he
should include cvery head of claim which he considered in equity due? The amount
of a demand is no argument against its validity, but should be an argument to
induce its being examined with impartiality ; and if correct, liquidated without delay

I have likewise to request your Honourable Court particularly to rcmark,‘bgou I
close my notice of the pecuniary concerns, that by this figst award of tile Governor-
General in Council of, 1823, much as my Brother hgd reason to complain of its In-
justice, an amount of about £5,000 is acknowledged to be dudto hirg. The amount
and more had been acknow]edfged as due on Java; but never wvas placed within his
optien to receive. The Java Government retire without liquidating or offering to
pay any portion of i’ ; and than four years after, when he is empowered to receive it,
all interest f8r che Past period igipoalti\rely refysed. My Brother had urged, in his
Ietters to the Honourable Board on Java, that as his engagements were entirely with
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the local Government—as they commenced In Java, and as they terminated there,—
he thought in equity he should be scitled with there; and he cettainly expressed, in
the fullest possible mannc®, the hardship he should consider it, aud the pecuniary loss
and personal inconvenience ta which he would be subjected, were he ubliged to pro-
ceed to Calcutta for the recovery of his claims. On these and other eonsiderations, he
was willing to accede to a large deduction from what he deemed his  ust claims, to
accomplish an immediate and final settlement 3 and urged at all events that he might
be paid on account, a portion of the admicted amount 3 but a reference to the existing
carrespondence will prove, in direct contradiction of what is asserted in this document,
that no sum of mopey Whateier was tendered to him on Java.

Tt will be scen by reference to his statement of clainiy, transmitted to she _Java
Governmént from Bar jarmasin, and from his letter of the 11th (ctober, 1816, written
when in Batavia, in farther explanation of the same subject, that his claims for losses
were distinct from his-regular acconnts ; and as lic only brought forward the one for
the equitable decision of Government, it necded not have impeded the settlement of
theother. Might nbt theone have been referred, and the other liquidatcd ; or inight
mot, at all events, an amount have been paid on accownt ?

T hope I shall not be considered by your I1lonourable Court, as deficient in rcepect
to the Supreme Government in Lengal, for venturing thus to remarks o1 iis resolutions.
I hope that it will be belleved that notbing less than the wost sincere conviction, that
these resolutions have beea the result of misrepresentation, and that the sentiments
thqy convey are most unjustly severe on 1y Ureiher’s characier, would have em-
boldened me to have brought them so distinctly under your consideration. 1 cannot
but flatter myself, that an unprejudiced perusal of thgm, and the remarks which [
have here made, must induce your Honourable Court to admmt that my Brother has
justly to complain 1—

First,—'I'hat 1he Supreme Government, as it appears from the expressions adopted
in the resolutions of the 28th of October, 1817, to have expeccted my Brother's at-
tendance in Calcutta, did not condesecnd to icate to him threugh their Secre-
tary, the purport of this resolution, and its wishee so to atiend.

Secondly,—That the Suf Gover , entertaining the sentiments it had ex-
pressed in this resolution, did not, on the receipt of my Brother's appeal to the Right
Ilonourable the Governor-General in Council of the 31st August, 1420, soliciting
impartial investigation, and offering if desired to attend personally in Calcutta for the
purpose, immediately reply to that appeal, and express definitely its wishes as to that
point. Tt should be remembercd that he there says:—* | appeal with earnest en.
treaty, that no farther time may be lost, in transmitting to me whatever accusations, if
any; #mand unanswered against me."”

Thirdly,—That on Mr. Miln (my Brother's friend and Agen') communicating to
the Supreme Government! through Mr. Fendall and the acting Secretary, on his ficst
visit to Calcutta in )Tovemte?, 1822, that hc had come in pﬂuuancz of the intima-
tion given in 'my Brother’s appeal just mentioned, félly prepared with documentary
and other evidence, to vindicate, if allowed, my Brother’s character from the aspersions
under which it had been suffering,—he was not informed that his attendance was
deemed insufficient, or that my Brother himself was expected (o attepd ; but on the
contrgry, Mr. Miln declares that *when he expredsed to Mr. Fendall, who was then
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one of the Honourable Council, that he came fully prepazed with documentary and
other evidence, to vindicate, if it were thought necessary, the integrity of my Brother’s
public conduct,—that Gentleman uncquivocally replied, that Mr. HARE was mis-
taken in supposing that the Supreme Government would enter into any such investi
gation —that it was not intended to discuss his publicwonduct ;—that it was only
wished to consider and liquidate his public accounts,—~and allow him any remunera.
tion for losses in the publie service, which might be deemed reasonable.

Fourthly and finally,—He bes to complain that the Supreme Government, not
baving communicated to him their resolution of 1517,—and not having taken any
notice whatever of liis appeal of the 31st August, 1620,—not having even conveyed to
him direcily, or indirectly through his Agents, its wishes as to his attendance in
Gnl!ul.l,a,—-and not having expressed to Mr. Miln any intention to enter on the dis-
cussion of my Brother’s imputed political offences, but on the contrary declared an
intention to confine its enquiry to matters of account and remuneration,—should never.
theless on the 2d May, 15'23, introduce into a public documuént, purporting to be the
result of its‘enquiry, expressivus wiich could only be correctly applicd to 2 convicted
criminal, and that eriminal secluding himself from justice—not an individual who had
sued, and was sucing for an impartial hearing.

‘To shew that the opinions I have thus ventured to state, on the resolutions of the
Governor.Genefil in Council, communicated to wy Brother's friend and Agent, Mr.
Miln, are in strict coincidence with those which the circumstances spontaneously
suggested to that Gentleman on the spot, | beg leave to solicit your perusal of a copy
of & letter, which that Gentleman felt it his duty to address to the Supreme Govern-
ment, on the receipt of the document referred to, and which closed his correspondence
on my Brothet's hehalf. ¢nee Appendix A).

In a foriner part of this appeal, I have mentioned that a short time after the British
Authorities finally removed from Java, the Duteh Government commenced a series of
oppressive acts against my Brother, subjecting him by seizare and detention of ship-
ing— by the :eimw of his lund and property upon it at Banjarmasin,—and by various
personally annoying measurca—to very considurable pecuniary losscs.  Instead of exe
periencing fucilitics in the recovery of debts, and settlement of accounts with his
assistants, he and myself were placed vnder annoying and embarrassing restraints of
different descriptions; and every individual whom we chanced to employ, including
the very Captains of the vessels, scemed marked out to experience similar treatment,
—until at last a peremptory expulsion from the Island, and Netherlands settlements
generally, in direct violation of the treaty of Peace, put a period to all further attempts
to accomplish a winding up of our concerna in that quarter.

As my Brother had been most particularly anxious to conciliate a kind feeling in
the Dutch Authorities, this hostility on their part appeared to all inexpifcable ; and
the rumoured cause—a jealousy of Sir Stamford Raffles, and a suspicion that my
Brother was remaining on the Island to carry on a Correspondence with him—did not
appear sufficiendy to explain the proceedings. Just previchs, hogever, to our depara
ture from the Ieland, we were surpriscd to hear, that it had transpired from one of the
Secretarics of the Java Government, that Mr, Hare had to blame his own Govern.
ment at Bengal for every thing that had occurred, This appeared to my Brother
hardly ctbdibley but he thuu‘glzt the report came from & sufficiently respectable aunarter

c?
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to warrant the allusion to it, which will be found in his letter of appeal to the Right
Honourable the Governor.General in Council; to whom he likewise transmitted
notarially authenticated evifence of the injuries he had experienced from the Dutch
Authorities, in hopea that the injuiies which a British subject had received, contrary
to the treaty of Peace, might have been thought worthy of some notice,

On my arrival in Europe, I transmitted & memorial to his Majesty’s Government.
on the part of my Brother, narrating the improper acts of the Dutch Authorities
on Java, and praying the mediation of his Majesty’s Ministers, to obtain redress from
the Government of the Netherlands. Tbe Memorial was transmitted without delay
to his Majesty's Ambassa€or at the Hague, who immediately, in a note to the Minis.
ter of Holland, required an explanation of the acts in question; and after many
months—during which time refercnce was made to his Excellency the Baron Vander
Capelian, the Governor-General on Java—a reply from hic Excellency the Baron
Von Nagel, the Foreign Minister of his Majesty the Kirg of the Netherlands, was
transmitted in a note from his Majesty’s Ambassador in Holland, to the Right Hon.
George Canning, his M§jesty’s principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, who
allowed me to peruse it at the Foreign Office.

The contents of the despatch, with the perusal of whi~h I was thus favoured, at
once developed the cause which had emboldened the Duteh Authoritaes on Java, to
act so far at variance with the treaty of Peace, and with every principle of equity,
which usually governs one state towards the Citizens of anuther. His Excellency
the Baron Vander Capellan assigns as the cause, the following passage in a letter
from the Government in Bengal, dated 7th November, 1818, in reply to a letter com-
plaining that Sir Stamford Raffles hiad communicated to the Java Government, that
my Brother had tendered his lands on the Coast of Banjarmasin to his Britannic
Majesty :—** Your Excellencies do not require to be inforined of the sentiments en-
tertained by us of the conduct of Mr. HaRE, and the proceedings connected with the
establishment by him at Banjarmasin ; and you will not suppose that we can bave any
desire to skreen a person whom we regard as a delinquent.” (See Apper«lix B).

It is not easy to conjecture what meaning the writer of this liberal paragraph at-
tached to the word *‘delinquent.” The interpretation given to it in dictionaries is
generally “a criminal—he who commits crimes.” Whatever crimes might be attri-
buted to my Brother by the author of this despatch, it is proper to mention that pecu-
niary frauds, or defalcation, could not be properly placed among the number, by a
Government who voluntarily award him, five years after, a sum of £5,000 sterling,
which it acknowledges to have been justly due.

This declaration of the opinlons of so high an authority who, it was probable, had
the fulltweams of information, and who it might have been naturally supposed, would
not on light grounds, injure the character of an individual in a Foreign Colony, thus
conveyed indirecsly to his Mafesty’s Ministers, of course would at once damp all
ardour, if not entirely put A stop to ny exertions, in the support of his claims on the
Datch Government for redress. Perceiving that unless I dould succeed in removing
this unfavourable impreasion, I could have no hopes of obtaining the assistance I had
requested, I lost no time in addressing to his Majesty’s Minister for Foreign Affairs, a
narrative of my Brother's transactions, and soliciting the opportunity of sybmitting
10 any Gentleten he would be pleased tu abvoint. doculientary proof of every fact I
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.had stated. 1 was given to understand by a note, on the receipt of his letter, that the
duties of the Foreign Office would not admit of any such investigation; but that my
letters, with the reply of the Dutch Authorities, had been®submitted to his Majesty’s
legal advisers, who had decided that the Dutch Government had nof assigned suffi-
rient cause for the injuries they had inflicted on my Brother; and that his Majesty's
Ambassador at the Hague would be instructed to press upon the Dutch Government,
the justice of his claims. (Sce Appendix D).

Failing in this attempt tb obtain an impartial review of my Brother's public trans.
actions, and hearing that a treaty between his Britannic Majesty and the King of the
Netherlands, which it was rumoured was finally to settle all 'dlnputed points between
the twe countries, then occupied the attention of his Majesty's Ministers, I thought it
expedlent to address a letter on the 19th April, 1824, to the Right Honourable
W. W. Wynn, President of the Board of Commissioners for India, requesting his
attention to the peculiar hardships of my Brother's case, and to the injuries he had
received fromy the Dutch Authorities on Java, who it appeared had vindicated their
conduct by an extract from a public drspatch of the Bengal Government, in purport
most destructive to my Brother’s reputation, and which if not controverted by evidence,
would prove to have been not only the origin of his grievances, but to frustrate all
attempts at obtaiging for them any redress. I solicited, therefore, earnestly the ap-
pointment of some individual, to whom I could submit the evidence 1 possesscd, of
the integrity of my Brother’s conduct. I likewise took occasion in this address to ex.
plain, a3 well as in my power, the commercial importance of a settlement on Borneo,
and the opportunity there still remained of retaining our title to one there, if his Ma-
jesty’s Government thought it desirable. (See Appendix JLE

The reply 1 received to this letter held out no hopes of obtaining the investigation
I had solicited ; and being fully determined that no exertions of mine shall be deficient
to remove the unjust and unfounded misrepresentations under which my Brother’s re-
putation has been so long suffering,—1 now have recourse to the only messure which
presents itselfs as likely to accomplish the vbject—that of appealing to the equity of
your Honourable Court.

In the foregoing narrative, T have conscientiously restricted myself to a statement
of facts, of which I have had either personal knowledge, myself,—or possessed on
them, from written documents, the most perfect information. To all the important
points, I should not hesitate to attach my affidavit. T have as much as possible, con=~
sistent with preserving the connection between events, avoided entering at length on
questions of a pecuniary nature. My Brother has to regret that his conduct has
never been noticed by either the Java or Bengal Governments, cxcept as collateral
to the settlement of his accounts and claims, which might infer that there existed
some necessary coopection beiween the two ; but if the severe general expressions
which have been appged to his conduct be well- founded it 18 proper the accusation
should assume some definite form, and ohtain “distinet consifferation; and not be so
combined with questions of fccount, as to lead to the conclusion that criticisms oa
the former, were introduced as a legitimate apology for rejecting the validity of the
latter. I therefore request of gour Honourable Court onmy Brotler's behalf, that the
questions ofeaccoust may not be supposed to be the object of the present appeal.

If theré be any truth in the $acts I have been relating, 1 think your Honourable
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Coutt Wil admite, that ¥y Brother has suffered no usus) series of injuries. Hehas
experlenced a grest diminution in his fortime, ot a time when he had closed all s
commercial concerns; and with them all chance of recovering his losses, by a fresh
exertion of industry or enterprize. Without troubling your Honowatle Court with
explanations, I can prove, If required, that the period of time which has elapsed since
the close of his unfortunate Official engagements, has almost been whally sacrificed
in endeavouring to extricate his scattered property, from the involvements
which directly or indirectly originated in the public arrangements ; and that in conse-
quence he has been prevented from returning to Europe, although to do so, was an
object which he anxiously desired. To all these actual pecuniary losses, and personal
privations,lie has to add the mortification of having had his character misunfersiood
and misrepresented, by Authorities certainly of high Official influence, and great
personal respectability, who might naturally have been supposed from experience of
public life, not hastily to have applied expressions decldedly destructive of any indi.
vidual's character, without hearing that individual in bis own defence ; particularly
when the transactions to be investigated were evidently of a very con plicated descrip.
tion, The accumulation of injuries which it has been the object of my present appeal
to represent, whether proximately inflicted by Dutch or Briiish Authorities, are all
directly or indirectly to be traced to the cause I have just mentionedt

The declarations, however solemn, of my personal conviction on a subject which so
nearly interests me, as the vindication of an affectionate Brother’s aspersed reputation,
I am well aware can have no weight in influencing the opinions of your Honourable
Court; but I should feel §t as a dereliction of a moral duty, not to make some general
declarations on the subject; and I conceive they will form at least some apology for
the intrusion 1 am making on the time of the Honourable Court, and the decided lan-
guage I am impelled sometimes to adopt.

As I have already informed your Honourable Court, T was personally cognizant, or
from being on the spot, possessed the most complete means of obtaining accurate in-
formatlon, of every transaction which has been called In question ; &hd as faras 1
was able to affix meaning to the indefinite surmises which were then afloat,—or have
since been able to conjecture what were the points which were deemed to require ex-
planation,—I am convinced that they entirely consisted of groundless aspersions, and
misunderstood or unfavourably misinterpreted parts of his conduct; and 1 have no
hesitation in declaring it to be my unequivoral opinion, that in no one instance can it
be proved, that he “knowingly sacrificed the public interests and reputation, to his
own private advantage.”

With_respect to one branch of the investigntion—that regarding the mode in which
the Javanese Colony was formed—1 can positively assert, that I took pains to investt
gate personally every dispufed case, which 1 heard had accupied the attention of the
Commimfoners ; and that the regult was my unhesitating belicf, that not one individual,
with the knowladge or consent of my Brother, ever went to Banjarmasin, except
veluntarily,—or under the express cognizance of the Government Authoriies. I caa
prove from documents in my possession, that the impelling motives for the formatien
of the Convict Establishment was humanity. 1 can te'tify that as far as my Drother
had execued the intentions of Goverpment, he was lctuatai o ag extreme degree by
the same principle ; for it remains on record, amung the claime which the Bengal
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Governaieny have tejected, that a lange staunt of his pecuniary losses, cansteied of an
expenditure which his kind soljgitude to rendes the Javanese happy, had indused hita
to make, beyond what the economising orders of his Goverament had regulady suthe.
wsed.  To theae who have known him in india, & wonld indeod appear supererogatory
to adduce proaf, that he could mot act with injustice, or want of the most indulgent
feeling towards native dependents; but even thuse who are ignorant entirely of his
charagter, will, I hope, pansider it & satiafactory proof, that no harsh or unjust oppres-
sive aots distingnished liis conduct tewawls the Javanese at Banjarmasin,~tbatto theic
eredit they unitormly displayed the most quiet and attached deporiment towards him,
when Lie was compchied o leave them under my supsrintendegee, at a period when the
acts of the Java Governinent were of a natuie to produce apprehension, insubordie
nati#n and disvespect, 11 should likewisc be mentioned, as a sokid iudubitajle proof of
what I haie been now stating, that they proved, afier four years banishinent, to have
imcreascd in number ; and exlnbited at the tiwe of their receiving orders for ree
embarkatipn, a peculiarly eawfortable and contented litde unity,. On the
whole I feel ‘convineed, that there is no part of my Brother's life, which, if impartially
considered, and well explained, would redound mare to his credit, as an able, humane,
and—in a pecuniary sense—disinterested man, than the mode in which Le organised
and conducted the concerns of this little Colony.

With respecto any other part of his arrangements at Banjarmasia, which mey
have given rise (o unfavourable impressions, 1 cannot attempt farther to notice them,
than to declare, that all I have ever heard questioned, can be proved, if impartially
and accurately serulinized, to have been measures lionoutably intended to advance the
objects originally proposed in the formation of the Settlement. In judging of all his
proceedings, it must be bofme in recollection, as 1 have remarked in a forer part of
this appeal, that the investiture of his private capital, in the trade and agricultural en-
terprize, which the place might induce, was from the tirst contemplated by those under
whotn he acted,  Nothing in fact, could be expected to have been done efficiently, in
bringing forward a place considercd, and so justly idered, as hazardously enviraned
by Pirates and Buarbarians, cxcept it were done by the enterprize of some Capitalist,
who might attract the valuable produce from the interior, and invita the intercourse
of Luropcan shipping. This double relation in which my Brother stood to the Bettle
ment, when not kept in mind by those who examing lus transaciions, may occasion,
and has palaps vccasioned, consiructions of an unfavourable pature § but if an unpes~
judiced liberal view be taken of his acis, I am confident their motives will bear the
strictest scruting.  Ac the same tine, | well know, that if, oo the contrary, » suspi-
cious or cenvorious spirit scek its own graiitication, it can hardly ever fail to find the
material, or distort what it may lind w what it seeks,

1 have no wish, nor has juy Brother any wish, w impugn the principley :r;{c-?s have
actuated the Authorities in Bengal, in their conduct towards him ; or c¥RN t0 insinuste
that Mr. Fendall, gt the commepcenient of his Goyernment, acted from any priwete
feelings of enmity against him. The supposition would be Rbsurdy as he was quite p
stranger to that Uentleman; butitis well known, that the able and enterprizing
public Servant under whom my Brother acted, and to whom he was known to he st-
tached, was subjected to g¥perience a spirit of hostility at that time, in certaln cjrcles ;
and what'my Blother dogs {ptincily atribute to Mr, Fendall, and otfiers who have
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hcted against him, is, that they had not been sufficlently cautious in excluding preju-
dices which others had propagated, with less pure igtentions, to injure not so much
my Brother, as his emplover ; and that in consequeuce, they came to the task of in-
veatigation with minds too much inclined towards one side, ever to give a fair hearing
to the other. A tone and manner was assumes, which could not but wovnd the feel-
ings of any man of conscious integrity ; mutual unpleasantness was the result ; and
it cannot be denied, that personal offence became too apparent in the public corres-
pondence. My Brother had the misfortune, at a moment of an entire change of men
and political views, to be found in an involvement from which he could not get re-
leased, like other publig officers, by merely being deprived of office. The authority in
whose confidence he had acted, and who alone understood the principles of policy by
which he had been directed, had left the scene. The undertaking he had been'ton-
ducting—whatever might have been its wisdom, or probable ultimate advantage—was
doomed to be made, by sudden relinquishment, a dead loss to the Honourable Coma
pany ; and the one or two servants of the retired Guve'rnment, who accepted office
under the new, instead of feeling interested, to ward off by a manly vindica ion of the
original policy, the obloquy they saw likely to fall on my Brother from party malice,—
unconscious prejudices,~~and that which necessarily resulted from having to wind out
from what was thea doomed to present all the disagreeables of a ruined concern,—
satisfled themselves by throwing the feebly weilded sheild of their influence over their
departed master ; leaving it to be supposed that a favourite measure of his Adminis-
tratlon was the entire work of a subordinate. Thus, every thing conspired to keep
round my Brother’s cage, all the prejudice and obscurity which malice could invent, or
temporizing policy avoid dispelling.

1f my present appeal should prove successful, in calling the attention of your Hon-
ourable Court to my Brother's case, 1 hope it will be remembered, that the duties he
had to perform in establishing, without the aid of any efficient military assistance, a
Commercial Settlement on an insulated spot, distinct from European authority,
which had becn repeatedly abandoned by Europ , in consequence c:f its piratical
neighbourhood, and the Barbarian treachery which had so frequently and fatally dis~
tinguished its native Government, was very different from the routine duties, which
usually fall to be performed by the Civil servants of the Honourable Company, in old

tablished Resid , where authority is paramount, and assistants numerous, He
had to organize and regulate de novo, instead of merely keeping in motion that which
was already organized ; and had to direct his cautien and contrivance to points which
perhaps never came under the consideration of any of the Honourable Company’s
Residents, on the Continent of India. While inclined to maintain that my Brother’s
arrancements at Banjarmasin were enlightened, and not deficient in sagacity, 1 must
at the same time acknowledge, that they not unfrequently failed in execution, from
the want of adequate assistan's. Such was the dislike of the station, among the few
¢ualified British expectants at Ba‘avia, that not one could be gotto accompany him ;
anc thé two that 7ere induced to follow at different times_in consequence of his com-
plaining of an inadequate establishment, returned after two or three day’s residence on
the spot. He had not even a Clerk capable of writing English ; and the person who,
-for want of a better, was appointed by the Lieutenant.trovernor, as Assistant Resi-
dent, was a Dutchman—known both to him and my Brther, as having beef suspected
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of want of fdelity to his own Government. He was obliged to devolve, not only
the details of public business, but his own private affairs on the half educated Indian
born class of writers, whose inadequacy for transacting any important concerns, is well
known to every person who has ever resided in India. AIl the assistants, including
even the Dutch Surgeon, deserted him, immediately on the arrival of the Dutch Go-
vernment st Batavia; and thus, just at the moment he had to render his accounts, he
found himself without even a copying Cletk, and was compelled to make them out
with his own hands. It so happened that the public were not defrauded of any
thing, as his own funds alone suffered, if any casual abuses had existed ; but none of
these difficulties which he had to encounter, were sllowed to yeigh with his severe
censors in the consideration of his case ; and perhaps nothing could display the unkind
feeling® which existed towards him, more, than that on his adverting to the causes I
have just stated, for not having been able at the moment to produce the authentication
of his faithless Dutch Assistant, Mr. Vander Whal, who was absent on other pursuits,
and over whom he had no control, to certain items of the expenditure, which, from
their indispensable nature, required none, he was told, that he was to be held ac-
countable for the deficiency, if any, of his Assistant—inequitably forgetting that the
Assistant was appointed by Government.

All these difficulties which he had had to encounter, and which might without any
unusual extension of liberality, have been considered, as long as the essentials were
ascertainable, fairly to apologize for any trivial deficiencies in the details of accountant-
skip, were severely rejected as inadmissible, He had been up, to that perlod of his
life, known intimately, ed in his ns, and invariably esteemed, by a highly
respectable circle, embraciug in it the principal commercial escablishments in India ;
and it was known that be had® long enjoyed the most confidential friendship with the
Gentlemen who had just retired from the Java Government,—a friendship which at no
mnoment had been in the least interrupted. He bad therefore a fair clalm to be treated
with the delicacy due to a Gentleman of unimpeached reputation; but on the con.
trary, they had come from the highest Government circle at Bengel, impressed with
the notion that they would have to investigate, what iL wes rumoured high Authority
had then before investigation, designated a ** Job;” and they did not fail to mark the
predominating conviction in every act which followed. But I ask, “on my Brother's
behalf, of your Honourable Court, what appears but justice,—that the prejudices
which influenced his thew Judges may not mow prevent him from obtaining an im-
partial review of his case. I ask that he be idered at least | nt of what has
been imputed to him, until a patient hearing and calm deliberation on facts, shall
have produced conviction. I ask that in considering hie acts, it be likewise considered
how far these acts were in conformity with the spirit of his instructions, or with the
views of the Government under which he acted, or produced necessarily from the
situation in which he was placed. I cannot but consider jt as a proof that nothing
was developed of disreputable discrepancy berween his.acts, and the guo animo of the
authority under whom he had, the honour to act, that to t.ha:'nuthorky he appealed,
and was honourably scquitted.

1t is not incumbent on my Brother——and might perhaps be considered presumption
In me~—to trouble your HonoBrable Court, by a vindication of the policy of the
public measures, which he had 4he misfortune to encace in executing. If such s
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vindication kad -been neeessary, it would hava heen ably and feprlesply undertaken hy
the much more competent authority to whom be was subordinate. At the same time,
it is but 8 due degree of candour to declare; that my Brother has on no occasior
hesitated in the least td adwit, that altheagk he undoubiedly acted under higher
authority, be had been confidentially consiited oi the measurcs which he had under«
taken to exccute, and that they had received his entire concurrence. | feel myself anxious
to exprees farther, that fur frommaking this admission with reluctance, he congiiers
1t an honeur to have coinclded in opinion, and co.operated in the pullic policy of an
individual, whosc talent, ardeur, and enterpiize pevfurmed more for the Commaergial
interests of lis country, than ever was performed by any one who had enjeyed in-
Buence in that portion’of India. My Lro.her s ill cominues of opinion, that the much
traduced settlement at Banjurinasin was one which would have proved of ultimate graat
advantage (o British Commerce; and that as the Duteli had furmally rodingoished all
Sovercign vight 1o the spot, previowsly do the capture of Juva—w hich relinguishment
had been made the Uasis of a treaty, adding o the®Briusli, cxtensive tervitory, and
many Cowmercial advautages—it was not melwled in the terms & (e treaty of
Peace. as a depn lulj.tm:}' of Java, and therefore quite unnceessary (o have been aban.
doned with thai Island. That sonie moncy had been expended in forming the settle-
ment, he thought, siiould have formed an argunient for not leaving it=—particularly as
the British flag might have continued therc without farther investiture ; and be per-
tainly considered it imprudent to expend on the mere sbundomuent of the place, as
much, as fairly caleubinied, ita establishwent had awounted to. e thonght, at all
events, the subject might have been worthy of refevence for farther consideralion.—
These are, and were his opinions ; and e failed not to state them most fully at the
time. .

There is one general remark on my Drother’s conduct, which, taken into considers-
tion with the circumstances in which he was placed, when he lirst entered luto the
servioe of the Company, should of itself, I think, to any imparlial julgment, excul-
pate him from the suspicion of having been governed by the sovdid unworthy motives,
which have been imputed to him.  Ile accepted office with an ample piivate fortune 3
and at the time, was on such terns of friendship wiih the LicutenantsGovernor,—
and stood so without a competitor as to the possession of real practical knowledge, and
useful Joeal inturmation, regarding the new sc.ne of British .A\uthoeriiy— that the most
lucrative situations on the Island, which it was in the panonoge of Government to
confer, .werey 1 know on the best authority, at lis option, It was likewise well known
to all the British at that time resident at Batavia, or its vicinity, that by the possession
of a large capitualy, he could have commanded ¢ mmerdial advantages of most unusual
occurrence.  After undertaking two very hazardous, unpleasant, and, ina pecuniary
view; unproductive missions, at the particular request of the Lientenant- Governor, he
is acen to accept of a destination so very unpromising, as to cvery thing that was con-
sidered des.rable, that among the numerous individuals who tl]cn were applicaats for
all ranks of servmc, nat one appropriately qualified Englishman, could be persuzded to
accept the situation of Assistant Resident. The establishment, it will be seen by his
{etter of appointment, was to be conducted with the utmost economy—affording no
regular military force ; and his salary was not of an amount to have induced any in-
dividual, in his situation, to cut himself off from European socie:y, and to engage in
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the dangerous intrigues of Malay politics, among the jungles of a shore then deemed
very insalubrious.  So diametrically opposite was the prospect which his public situs-
tion seemed to present to what was lucrative, or in the gcnu:al opinion of mankind,
desirable, that all his friends and relatives at the time regretied the determination he
had formed, as an unforiunately outrée direction of his time and talent. In fact, his
acceptance of Office under the Honourable Company turned out to be what myself
and his otber relatives always considered it would be—the most imprudent act of hia
whole life ; but we cerlainly never supposed that it could have been thought one,
which whatever way it was viewed, would be ronsidered to have had its origin only in
the sordid pursuit of pecuniary emolument. No unworihy, but cor tainly an eccentric
ambition, to gralify himself in explning a new couniry, and conducting the aflairs of
ar esuglilhment, which lie sincerely believed would have been of important public
advantage, was the predominating motive which induced bim unfortunately I’.(; the une
dertaking. That lie did not regoncile these public vicws, with what he considered
would prove rational attention (o his prirate frtune, I do not mean to insinuate. He
certainly entertained the idea that he might invest his capital, so g to afford him fair
profit for its employment ; but it was in his opinion only 1o be done, by rendering it
instrumental to advance the public interests in the Coluny. Not only were these his
views ; but that thg' were the views of the authority under whom be acted, T can take
upen mysell, to assure your Honourable Court, from repeated and very recent commue
nications on the subject.

T shall here conclude the obscrvations which I have thought it my duty to submit to
your Honouralile (‘ourt, in vindication of my Brother’s public conduct. 1 only hope
what I have said may have been expressed with all the earnestness of an unbesitating
conviction of truth. T am appealing to vour Honourable Court witliout the instrug-
tion, or even the knowledge of tbe affeciionate relative whose part T feel myscIf spona.
peously but ircisistibly impelled toadvocate. That T am at least sincere in the belief
of what I bave veutared to adduce in his favour, will I hope appear cvident, ffom my
having thus, bga full and candid narrarive, brought to the specilic notice of your
Honourable Court, the accusations against my Droties, which it is probable, to the
Members of your Honourable Court, may not be generally known. Disl I not strongly
feel, that I stood, in advocating his cause, on the * high ’vaniage ground” of truth,
prudence would liave directed a fur more timid and reserved line of conduct.

The general objects of my present appeal are already before the Honourable Com-
pany in the leuter writien by iy Drother to the Right Honourable the Governor-
General, which I presume has been transmitted home from Bengal, with the other
papers on the subject of his claims. I shall, however, take the liberty to inclose a
copy of it, and of a letter to J. C. Lushington, Esq. to which I solicit in the most
earnest manncr, the attention of your Honourable Court. (See Appendix "ﬁ.

If your Honourable Court shall condescend to accede to the wish here expressed to
the Bengal Government, of instituting an impartia) investigation intoIny Drother's
case, I have to beg, that angopportunity be afforded me, t& comrgunicate all the
documentary and oral evilence which I may possess, in exculpation of him from
any charge which may be considered by your Honourable Court, to impugn the in-
tegrity of his inlenftum. But ®hether your Honourable Court shall yelld to my present
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appeal, so far as to institute an impartial inquiry, into the truth of what [ have taken
the liberty to state, or not,—1I have still humbly but earnestly to entreat,—

First,—That your,Hpnourable Cour: will grant me Official Copies of Mr. Fendall’s
report to the Supreme Government in Bengal, referred to in the resolutions of the
Governor-General in Council, and of the Qeport of the Banjarmasin ommissioners to
Mr. Fendall and Council, if any such exist.

Secondly,—That your Honourable Court shall be pleased to grant to me an Official
Copy of the Despatch from the Bengal Government to the Netherlands Government
of Java, of the 17th November, 1818, alluded to in the Despatch of the Baron Vun
Nage), to his Majesty’s Ambassador at the ‘Hague,—or of such extract from it as
refers to my Brother; and

Thirgly,—That your Honourable Court will be pleased to communicate the particu-
lars of any charges alleged against the conduct of my Brother, which n:ay have been
communicated to the Honourable Company, from thg Government in Bengal.

I trust that your Honourable Court will not consider it unreasonable, that I should
endeavour to obtaiv a full, a complete, and definite knowledge of whatever may have
reached the archives of the Honourable Company, of a nature to convey irpressions
unfavourable to my Brother’s character. If nothing else shall attract favourable at-
tention to my present appeal, I hope the consideration will, that hy withhold:ng from
me the information T solicit, T shall be entirely prevented from vindicat.ng my
Brother’s character to his Majesty®s Ministers, and thereby from obtaining redress for
the serious and unjust injuries inflicted on him by the Netherlands Government. 1 Yope
therefore, T may be enabled to secure for him the means of vindicating himself t¢ the
world, although he may be denied the satisfaction of accomplishing that objec.,
through what might be considered the legitimate mediation of your Honourable Court.
In making this appeal to obtain that mediation, I shall even if unsuccessful, rest
satlsfied, that I have omitted no opportunity within my power to obtain justice for an
affectfhate relative, and much injured man.

T have endeavoured to be as succinct as the accurate reference to soJmany circum-
stances would allow ; but am very sensible of having intruded most unusually on the
time of your Honourable Court, for which I beg respectfully to apologize.

1 have the honor to be,

&c. &e. &c.

JOHN HARE.
_ March 13, 1827
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A.

TO GEORGE SWINTON, ESQ.

Secretary to Government in the Political Department.

—
Sin,

PREVIOUSLY to,my departure, it becomes necessary to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter, dated the 2d May, with the Resolution of the HonouraBle the Governor-
General in Council, relative to Mr. HAre's claims. The reply has been deferred by
reason of the delay that took place, regarding the payment of the balance of the ace
count current, and pagt of a contingent bill which, with the exception of a small sum
on account of Mr. Joux HaRE, was all that Government lad thought it expedient to
authorize, and which sums were received on the 1!th instant,—the other claims
Government having deemed il proper to reject.  As the Agent of Mr. ALEXANDER
HARE, and in his ahsence, I must claim the privilege to offer some observations in
his vindication, and to remurk that Government it would appear, by the former re-
solution passed in October, 1817, had condemned him without a hearing.

On my arrival here from Java, in January, 1822, the claims of Mr. HARE could
not then be considered, in consequence of the temporary absence of the Marqujg of
Hastings ; but it was distinctly understood, that no farther necessity existed to inves-
tigate the politicabeonduct of Mr, HaRE, whilst Resident at Banjarmasin ; and that
1 would have to direct my attention to the settlement of accounts only. Upon my re-
turn to thig place in January last, I was therefore impressed with the belief that
Government required no explanation on Mr. HARE's public conduct, otherwise a
very full one would have been afforded.

On reference to the letter addressed to the Marquis of Hastings by Mr. HaRe, it
will be seen that he courted enquiry, and offered every information regarding his cen«
duct, through his Agent ; ur that he would, if required, personally attend and vindicate
his character from the aspersions that had been, through party spint, cast on it. Had
any thing injurlous to his reputation continued in the recollection of Governmemi;*
after such an appeal, it might have been expected that Mr. HARE would have been
called upon to afford the necessary explauation. No reply was ever made to him, and
he continued ignorant of {Be sentiments of Gevernment. .

I hold now in my possessior:, 8ocuments which might have induced the supreme
Government to entertain very different impressions of the conduct of Mr. HArE, and
of the views acd measures pursued by him on Borneo. Should an unfavourable
opinion still be held of him ; common justice requires that his statement should be
taken into consideration ; and I fecl fersuaded, that had the Honourable the Gawvernor
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General in Council perused, or rather appointed a Committee to report on Mr. HaRE's
documents, a settlement more extended and liberal would bave been grauted.

At the commencemént, and in the forniation o1 an infant Colony, it was impossible
to be guided by fixed fules, or to be confined to certain allowances, Existing cir-
cumstances alone, could with propricty, form the line of conduct and policy to be
pursued, and determine the extent of aid required. Had the setdzment of Banjar-
masin been continued to the present time, that desideratum of a depdt, for the
introduction of British manufactures, since «stablishcd at Sipgapore, would not
have been so much felt after the cession of Java ; but the former, as other ports on
the west and north Coast of Borneo, would naturally have been connected with it,
might have been of far greater importance on account of the Exports ; vhich being
capable of great extension, might, wuh proper enconragement, have maintained a
steady trade, and preserved 2 par of LIxchange, so much wanted i the Eustern Archi-
pelago. Metals and Pepper alone from Borueo, mizht have nearly cnsured sufficient
returns for our manufactures. The young Coffec Plantations established by Mr.
Hare round Banjarmasin, became so flourishing, that since then, perhaps from a
confined policy, and fear that thcir produce might soon arrive in compettion with
those of Java, they have been cither destrayed, or perniitied to go to decay.

It might Le consudered superfluous to revert to the Iesoluugns of Government of
the 28th October, 1817, at the present moment, and 1o enier into a discussion, as Mr+
HaRrE may be cutiled to do, to shew that in a just and legal point of view, those
resolutions would be deemed premature; tending not only to the prejudice of his
claims, but to prejudge the whole case; for it must be admaited, that it is contrary to
every usage to pronounce a condemnation without hearing the party imiplicated.

In reply to the fourth and fifth paragraphs of the Resolutions, it may be sufficient
to observe, that when cxlled upen by Government to specify all claims and demands
of My, HAnE upon the Honourable Company, it became indispensable to shew how
much Mr. HarE had actually luid out and expended.—It was for the Honourable the
Gavernor-General in Couneil, to be pleased to state how much or what part would be
allowed ; but that the claim should not in any degree be admitted, and at once rejected
in toto—on the principle, that ample grounds appeared on the records of Government
for so determinin ;—is & decision on which a difference of opinion must exist. Any
report made to GGovernment on the subject of Mr. Ilang’s claims, 1 humbly submit
cannot in itself warrant such procedure, without his being first called upon to apswer
for his conduct, and to shew his right to such claims. Mr. Hare has in his
statement, and other papers, explained so fully what the succeeding paragrapls in the
Resolutions relate to, that it would be unnecessary at present to offer any remarks

“otrthem.

1 ghall, therefore, at the present time, merely account for two inaccuracies of my
own in sating the accounts, (Lhe first being referred to in paragraph ninetecn), Re-
garding the additin of Sp. 10,487 12 to the balance & the account current, I
have to state, that not knowing that it had been devared by Government, that if the
expences fell under the amount allowed, it would be considered a saviug belonging to
Government, the above mentioned sum was added.. conceiving that Mr. HARE had a
right to claim it. The other mistake regarding the contingent bill is noticed, and
corveo ed In paragraph.20.
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With regard to the last Resolution of the Honourable the Governor General in
Couucil, T can only express my extreme regret, that it should have been conceived
necessary, without a farther hearing or reference to Mr. MlARS, as it so deeply
affects his interests, and has for its object to reject so large a portion of those claims,
which he had with confidence expected the Supreme Government to reimburse, trust-
ing the case would bave been received on the broad scale of liberal policy, usually
adopted by the Honourable Company.

Under present circumstances 1 am debarred from farther appeal bere, and I have no
alternative, but to refer the matter to Mr. Harr's own judgment ; leaving it to his
consideration, to adopt what future measures he may think prop®r, unless the Supreme
Govergmént may permit him in person to appear, and claiming its indulgence, to re-
new his claims.

I%have the horour to be,
&c. &c. be.

T. MILN.

Caleutta, July, 1023,



B.

TO THE MOST NQBLE
THE MARQUIS OF HASTINGS,

Governor General in Council.

P -
My Logb,

A sERIEs of unexpected and distressing occurrences, attributable to what took place
under the Jast British Authorities on Java, has subjected me to the amortification of
secing much time elapse, before I could venture to approach & higher tribunal. It
will now be seen, however, by your Lordship, what I have had to accomplish ; and
that I could not, ia necessary justice to mysclf, act otherwise than stedfastly to per-
severe In the course I adopted, whatever retarding or disheartening #vents might occur.

When the British Authorities retired from Java, expressing it requisite that I
should follow, it was perfectly well known, my Lord, how I was situated. I was
refused a settlement of my pecuniary claims, because I was not able at that tirde to
produce sufficient documentary authentication ; and I was recommended to proceed
immediately for a settlement of the same claims to Caleutta—not only under the same
disadvantages, but the additional serious consideration to my intercsts, of leaving the
only place at the only period it could ever be possible to supply the objected deficiences.

T was also made the object of criminal aspersion. Your Lordship had thought
proper, from the purest motives, to institute an investigation into the circumstances
under which the Colony at Banjarmasin had been established. .An9nvestigation ac-
cordingly took place ; but the mode in which it was conducted, I donot hesitate to
assert, was unusual and unjust. Neither was the report of the investigating Commis-
sion, as impartial justice demanded, made known to me; and all which was commu-
nicated to me as the results of its labours, were a series of interrogatory surmises, to
which I was required to reply. I did reply. my Lord; and exculpation, or notice of
specific accusation, might have been expected: but I was not indulged with any opinion
expressive of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the explanations I had afforded, and
was told merely to proceed to Bengal, for the settlement of my accounts. Thus, it
was Lot only on pecuniary claims that I was to seek decision—relinquishing for ever,
perhaps, the means of their authentication ; but I was not relieved from the hazard of
renewed attacks, on what is dearer to every mun—his character ; and by obeying that
call, would have been,equally relinquishing the means of securing its justification.

The Gentlemen who formed that Government weré considerably acquainted with
the various questions connected with my public conduct, and pecuniary claims; and
if they adopted reference to another tribunal, it became evident that I had the labour
necessarily before me, of making that tribunal equally acquainted with the subject,
before I could be expected to receive with satisfactivn its decision,
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Tewguld kavebeen but just, oy Towd, for mu«huﬂl, ‘lnl‘ oo
rettiement of anﬂWMMH origing i
ud;med,udwmdm othum&ority,lhﬂzdghtwnhﬁu : e
for preparing for such refaence ; and their Jast letted' in reply to mide, -capifibely

vating that the labour would be tedious, sdmitted the validity of that right.

Thus doomed, my Lotd, to u:uomplfdl what I perceived would requivy
labour, I patiently undertook it; and I have therefore written » narritive of miy pro.
teedings, and expesition of the views cantempluted in the Britith Settlement at Bun-
jarmasin, including its history, since its commencement, until the subsequent'final
macdm of the British Java Commnissiones.

I pmu.m not to ask or expect the attention of your Lordship in Council, to péruse
v wuch writing on an affulr, which is perbaps not entitled by public importance to
such a portion of valuable time asajt would occupy ; but T entertaln the hope, that in*
this paricular case, a written representation may be referted to a Commission ; and ¥
presume only to sohit that your Lordship in Council will be pleased to select sny
Gentlemen.—fopartial, from being as little uequainted with the leading Members of
the late Adminisiration in Java, as with myself, atd not otherwise previously pre.
judioed on Java poliges,—t0 whom sn Agent on my part, acynsinted with the pipirs,
may subrit them for perusal, or attend to facilitate reference and explanstion.

This work is bulky, aod cantains matter, perhaps, unusual to intrude upon publie
records; but the manner and extent in which I have been assailed fs withont it
psfrsllel. The documents of reference and authentication which sccompsny it, are
likewise wtill more voluminous and as my situation at this mément is such, s to
preclude entirely the possibility of iy being enabled to retain copies of the whols,
without the lapse of many more months, 1 hope it may be sufficient that the latter tsy
remain in the hands of my Agent in Calcutts, who will forward such extracts as foay
from time to time be required.

The delt deration of the facts accurately related in this nxrrative, which
bave to me been attended with such collateral injurles, and extraordinary consequent
iuvolvement, will I think prove to your Lordship, that what I have already suffered is
sufficient, 1f not entirely to rumn, dispropordonally to dapress any individual, whatever
were establishéd as his merits or demerits. )

When, my Laord, investigation shall, as I confidently anticipate, obtain justice to
mwy sbused character, it will alsp have been perceived by your Lordship, how I am
situated in regard to my unsettled pecuniary claims; and my Agent belng qualified tor
explain and communicate upon them, I am under s necemity of awalting to be ap.
priged by him, how Government may be'plensed to determrine regarding iy accdunts
and voushers, carried away, agaiost my spplications, by ths Bitish Comthisdion ; and
what pask can be settled 48 they sre now rendered,—or whether ¥ thiust p@d{uo&«
documentary wbstantistion for the whole. At the time I was ﬂq\ﬂni to submit
these, some of them were necelearily incomplete; and when I am now enabled to
ascertain: them with exactitads, much labour would be lost, and complexity dnﬁﬂ,
by my preparing’ any farther apuuu, without knowing precisely, wlm fs tobe
adopted; or whst morgis degmed e

I am prepared, as far as the@ikad ge! under which I have labourcd would‘ﬂor,
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with swhsbisitiating data 1 but ewing to extrsordiivry scnoysaces, which os.your Jond.
ﬁﬂhwmmw“mm sioo the-British Auiho
rities from Batsrls, it has Heen but lately that T was able;to obiain them ; nd, .

the releation of my mmﬁmﬁw for then
by dettiy to Mz, Feudall having obtained no shiswer—bat by the other pmbamass
menty alluded w0, I bave Heen almost, entlrely prevented from applying mpdl" 62 the
mecousus, or aheenting myself from Jave.

On&huﬂuqafmﬁm:, my Lord, as o all the other pnum‘mymdnch I
wish-only for the thotough investigation of Gentlemen uninfuenced by prejudice, ar
prersonal aoquaintance, and fairly liberal to an individual ; and could I capeeive, your
Lordship woutd deign to arbitrate, I should exuliingly waive all other ingwuctions to
thy Aﬁm, than  receive the award of your Lordship’s penetration and justice.

Owing to.he injury done my character, and to the proceedings generally of the late
British Authorities. in Java, I have farther been subjected to & persecution of us=
opsing annoyance from the Dutch, which bas interfered with me, by, distraction, ap-
prehension, and frevention of locomotion, to the injury of all my pending affaira,
and the direct occasioning of such serious losses, that the bulky papers I have to in-
trude en your Lowdship’s attention, explanatory of my transactions with my own
Govesnment, have not been a greater labour, than the preparstion of docuremts 40
suthenticate the appeal to the Authorities in Europe, which I shall feel it my duty to
make, in'demanding redress for the unjustifiable persecution I have suffered from the
Netherlanda Goveroment of Javs.

It would wppear that imitation only increased, as its gratification by ausry)‘pot
ceedings were perseveved in ¢ and when the supposed ostensible object had been set at
vest, and conscious inoffensiveness was inducing me to suppose that animosity waa
subsiding, I am, without any reasonassigned, orany that I can conjecture, expellod from
the Netherland Colonies, in which I have been an inhabitant for nineteen years; and
what renders the act more remarkable, this expulsion is long before the expiration
of the term assured to the British inhabitants of Java, by the Convention of Peace.

Having my Lord property engaged in commercial concerns, some landed property,
and various other local affairs very inconvenient for immediate removal, the deranging
injurious consequences to my private interests, are extremely distressing ; and whlst
1 would in other circumstances have gone to Calentta, the chance of obtaining redeess
in this pew case, calls me no less urgently to Europe; but I am compelled, in the
first inatance, to repair only to where I can sstile myself and dependents agmn in a
temporary home.

It appests, my Lord, to me, however, that my attendance at Caleutts would be une
*wwailing, uadll it can be for the settloment of sccounts; which may perbaps be ze-
quired more elpborate i detail than those already furnished ; and if I should go befoee
obtaining-the governing suswer, to enable me to supply what is to be oossidered
ewsepvial, 1 should be obliged to go twice. I conceive the papers I now send up, to
reciwe s &ﬁ'wﬂ o subetantiate so indisputably, by corrahorative tessimony, the
evaisiy pil operating influences which composed the history of my unfostunate public
engsjemnent, that it would disappaint me if any verhal relations I could rendes, were

10 interfre with the deliberats impartial perusal, which I trustany written appeat will
obtain



30

Whei the hassh measiite of the Netherland on Jave, oxiering mite
withdraw, ‘wnexpectedly occursed, it excited, by b 2 solitary inetance, dhe poblie:
‘urionity ; and ad extmordinsry whisper obtalned druhﬂw,lm&amh [
ot 50 confidextial as to merit attention; and 0 very ualikely o developeansh socrets
without some suthority, thaty although only a report whichappoars ifcrelfible, Kimmat
refrain from mottiening it to your Lordship ; ashowever false it may bey 1, in consse
quence of it, suffer the mortifying s.ggrsmim tothy ‘other injuries of retizing frem the
Soclety, under s defamation which I eannot Tefute ; and for which mmumh
not allow me to believe that there can be any foundation, uniess in some expressions
which may possibly bave been accidentally Liable to perveriod accaptatipn. N

Tt has, nty Lord, been assigned as a reagon for the treatment, 80 mmqrh’:iql
treaty, which I have experienced, that refetence having been made to your Letduhip’s
Government regarding me, and my pretensions to the landed property which bad ‘be-
come a source of jealousy, an arewer had been received, applying an expression s
highly derogatory to my reputacion, and injurious to my rights, that it has been deemed
becoming, either in the political reciprocity proper to exist between %riendly Governe
ments, or from necessary attention to the purity of the Colony, to inflict upon me this
sentence of ejectment. If there be any truth in the report—if any correspondence has
realfy taken place inwivicg my name, or which could possibly be construed influentisl
or vindicatory of the injuries I have suffered in a foreign Colony—-I urgently solicit
that sueh correspondence may be communicated to myseif ; and appeal to your Lovde
ship’s justice, whether as an aggrieved Loglshman, I am soliciting mnthnn my
right.

I must again repeat, that i mentioning this circumstance, I cannot cenceive it
possible to be founded on fact, Surely there was nothing, my Lord, in the corres.
pondence between the British Commissioners and myself, to justify any snch epithet
as this report represents, to have been opplicd towards me; aod I cannot suppose that
the representations of the retired Java Government in Calcutta could have dared to
convey any sense 8¢ lmpressions, se far from what appeared by that correspondence,
of recorded communication ;—but the more improbable the report appears, and the
more your Lordship’s Government is libelled by such representations, it becomes the
more proper that your Lordship should know what this Government is capable of ad-
vencing, In its anxiety to extenuate a dizect infraction of national faith,

It has thus been said that the Government of Java has corresponded regarding me
with your Lordship; but even if this be false, I fear there is too much reasan to bee
lieve, that it would not have been emboldened to commit in this ast towards me, &
political offence sgainst the British nation, were it not from a cowardly persussion,
founded on the conduct of the Iast Britishalava Government, that I was a person not
Hkely to claim national protection,

As still I have to apprehend the suffering under unfavonrable insprossisnlyeven in
the mind of your lad:h!y,&m the long period in which I hks been sileat, she
Java Govornment perbaps way®still trust 10 avail of such injurlous Wh
their justification ; but apologies so disingenuous, X doubt not, your Lordehl will
feel too strongly ot to zesent :gnd as the grievances of which I kave to cosplain
agaiust the Netherland Authorides, have been 20 numerous aad severe, s 0 induce me
1 salicit the mediation of his Ma;dy’s Ministers in England to obtain redredl, ‘pors
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haps your Lovrdship may be disposed to be scquaintea with that part of my case. 1
forward by my Agent, therefore, $opies of the mout essential documents in evidence,
ou » figll sonviction, thut your Londship's protecting justice will ca&u such an inila
wﬂ e made to the Autharities in Eurape respecting my case, as may shield
e suffering there, thie effects of any premature judgment, periding the enquiry
fnte the particulars of my present np?g:l to your Lordship. T know so well the vin.
dictive spirit of the l}nl@b Commisstoners, that they will endeavour to stigmatize my
character, in such a manner as to prevent, if powsible, my obtaining an imediate
hearing from his Majesty’s Miniaters ; and I respectfully request that your Lordship
will take those meashres to protect me egainst such injury, to which im justice and.
liberality 1 may appear entitled,

The"Dutch Guvernment have no just cause of complaint against me whatever; and
the whole groand of their proceeding would appear to be, what they consider to be the
opinlon of my own Government. Al I ask is, that untl my own Government has
formed its decision, whether I am right or wrong, I may not be injuced by a Foreign
Power, whose rivilry so nearly amounts to open enmity.

Ip concluding this appeal to the known justice of the high tribunal over which
your Lordship presides, it may be proper to state, that although I attribute all my
injuries and wrongs to the last British Aothorities in Java, I Gy no means wish to
tmpugn the purity of their motives. It was perhaps hardly possible for them to come
Intothe field unprijudiced ; and I was made the vic'im of a party, as intemperate as
vindictive and 1lliberal, The circumstances of the times were also peculiar; it rras
perhaps difficult for 8 Government to act with its usual deliberation. One error pro«
duced many others ; and hurry and prejudice soon accymulated an impenetrable barcler
to the course of truth and justice.

Smarting under unmerited reproach,—my character aspersed by surmises of the
grossest and most irreconcileable nature—I may mysclf have expressed my feelings
with dndignation. But now, that the spirit of party malevolence hus in some degree
subsded,~~now that a calm and deliberate view can be taken of all the circumstances
which took place,—a moare correct judgment can be formed ; and it will be found that
my character and fortune hawe been most vndeservedly violated and injured, by the
extraordinary and iacomprehensible proceedings of the Authorities, against whom
necessity obliges me to appeal. All I ask is a patient hearing, and an impartial
judgment. It will then remain for your Lordship to measure the reparation I vught
ta receive.

In order to satlufy Sir S. Raffles of the impossibility of my defending my cause”
with justice to myself before the present period, I bave requested him to peruse the
narzative to which 1 have alluded. Havingsbeen honoured with his confidence while
he held the Goveroment.of Java, it is an object of the first importance for me to re-.
move froni his mind, Impressions which the strange conduct of my adversaries may
have mades and totprove to him that so far from avoiding enqniry and investigation,
Tydemsnd aml urge it—no less for the credit of his namiuistntlorl, under which I had
tbnw to serve, than in justice to my much injured character. If I could have
been gni&yofmu, which cossmon report says havg been attributed to me, I muse
have abused his confidence ¢ but T believe Mr. Fendall will hinmelf be ready to admit,
that neflher the Board over which he presided, not its principal Officers, ever gave
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much credit to theae aspersions on my character. If they had, the least they conld
have done, would bave been to have given me indmlm thereof ;—instead of which,
the chicf responsibility attempted to be attached to me, was eonﬁned to placing the
blame on me, for the non-settlement of my accounts in Java.

I cannot, however, believe, that they can have conveyed any unfavourable impres-
slons to your Lordship’s mind ; or that your Lovdship could even havs received one
injurious to the honour and charactex of an individual, without giving that individual
an opportunity of defending himself, If, however, such should have found its way to
the records of Government, and any circumstances of which Iam not aware have
stood in the way of my being made acquainted with it, I appeal with earnest enireaty,
that no fajther time may be lost, in transmitting to we, whattver accusations stand
unanswlred against me. If I am accused, I desire to know of what I am u:rmed;
and I continue to protest against that indiscriminate judgment, by which I have so
long suffered, which would involve me it acts for which I never can be reaponsible ;
and which, by confusing and acc\.xmuluting in one heap things inconsistent with each
other and with themselves, is made to fail on an individual, as the Joint on which the
malice and violence of a disappointed party may expend itself. I ask that the political
question of Banjarmasin may be separated altogether from a consideration of my case.
The policy which dictated that establishment will, I doubt not, be advocated and
maintained by a more competent authority.

I request to add, that however injurious and inconvenient it may be for me to pro-
ceed to Bengal or England, T am ready and willing to do either, whenever I know
what the accusations against me are; or whenever the principle on which my ae-
counts are to be adjusted is settled, and my presence may bhe thought necessary.

I have to solicit your Lordship’s indulgence for any warmth of expression into
which I may have been led, in detailing the injuries, or accounting for the treatmett
I have received. When the extent of the injury I have suffered is understood, 1 an-
ticipate that I shall have credit for more patience tban most men; but my wrongs
have not been felt the less poignantly on this account ; and ithas been fmpossible for
me to narrate many particulars, without stating the iinpression under which I acted.

I have the honour to be,
My Lord,
Your Lordship’s most obedient humble Servant,

ALEXANDER HARE.
Batavia, 31st Auguast, 1820,

P.8. Messrs. Fe-rgum; and Co, are my general Agents in Calcutta s blit I have
prevailed on a Gentleman now at Batavia, Mr. Thomas Miln, who is sbout to. pro-
coed to Bengal, to ast for me in this particular instance.
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C.

TO THE RIGHT HONOURABLE
THE LORDS COMMISSBIONERS

Of His Majesty’s Theasiury.n
g

The MeMoE x.u.auf ALEXANDER Harg, Merchant, Jate  British Inhabitant of the
Island of Java, and now RESIDENT at the Cape of Goop HorE.

Your Memorialist, as an Individual who was entitled to the protection guaranteed by
the Convention of Peace, to the Brtish Inhabitants of the Colonies restored to his
Majesty, the King of the Netherlands, is compcelled to solicit your Lordship’s atten
tion to a detail of injuries wlich he has unjustly sustamned from the Authorities of
that Government in India, in direct violation of the guarantee so provided for Brrish
subjects.

Your Memorialist had been a Merchant, resident at Malacca ten years previous to
the capture of Java by the British, and on that event bad removed to Java, in which
Island, and the immediate vicinity, he has constantly resided until very lately.

Durlng the period of Sir Thomas Stamford Raffles’ Admunistration of the Govern«
ment of Java, your Memorialist had the honour of enjoying his confidence, and was
appointed by him, and confirmed in such appointment by the -Most Noble the
Governor-General of India, Resident of Banjarmasin, and Commissioner for extending
Commercial intercourse with the Malay States on the Coast of Borneo.

In this capacity, your Memorialist had the honour of negociating on the part of the
Honourable East India Company, a Treaty with his Highness the Sultan of Banjar-
masin, ceding to the Honourable Company the Sovereignty of extensive territories.
The Sultan of Banjarmasin was at the time an independent Prince ; having been pre.
viously formally released by a specific act of the Dutch Government, from all claims or *
assumptions of European Sovereignty ; that Government baving withdrawn its estab.
tishment, and having renounced completely all connection there whatever, 'This pecu.
liarity in the political sitvation of Banjarmasin, recommended it o Lord Minto and
Sir Thomés Btamford Raffles, for the situntion of a permanent British Settlement,
which would not of Lecessity be lnvblved in the future fate of the Dutch Colonies; and
therefore, the Treaty with the Sultan fully recognusé the principle of his entire in.
dependence of all European Power, the proofs of which were satisfactorily concluaive.
* Your Memorialist, who had been the medium of ohtaining attention to the solicita.
tion of the Sultan of Banjarmasin, for British connection, was engaged in the forma.
tion of t. at Settlement, and his private interests utfder arrangements with his Govern-
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ment were congected, and in course of time, became deeply involved in the ander-
taking.

Your Memorialist accepted, with the sanction of the Aughmit.iu under whom be
soted, a volantary grant from the Sultan of Banjarmasin to himself, and his heixs fo
perpaduity, of certain Iands situated on the Coast of Borueo; and, when the Authoriticy
appointed by the British Government in India, for the restoration of the Durch
Colonies, thought proper to abanden sbruptly the National Settlement at Banjar.
masin, which had occasioned su mueh trouble and expense to render an acquisition
permanently advantageous, and the cassiou of which, as before explained, was not in-
cluded in the Treaty of Peace, nor necessarily cons.gnent on t,he restoration of Java
snd its,dependencies, your Memorialist continued from nccednity to occupy, by his
depefldents, the portion of land which had thus become exclusively his pergonal pro-
perty. Your Memorialist at that period had a ship commenced in consequence of his
public engagements, half bullt on the spot, and considerable pecuniary investiture in
other undertakings which eouls not be abandaned without ruinous loss.

Your Memorialist at the time of the British retirement from Jzva, was the owner of
four merchant vessels engaged in the coasting trade of the Malay seas. He had like-
wise a large capiial employed in commerce on the Island of Java, and various impor-
tant private concegns unsettled ; be therefore could not, without ruin to himself at that
time, leave the Colony, and trusted that he might avail himscIf of the full peripd of
six years afforded by the Treaty advantageously to arrange his affairs.

Your Memorialist, apprehensive that Lis Independent rights on the Coast of Borneo,
where the Netherland Government took early steps to re-cstablish its connection and
power, might be viewed with jealousy, incompatible with the security of his property
there. submitted the lands, dnder sanction of the British Authorities then present, for
the occupation of the Netherlands Government, and even sued for its protection ; but 8
diginclination was expressed on the part of that Governinent, to bave the smallest ct;n-
nection with the spot, or even to extend to it ostensibly the protective sanction of itg
suthority. J'o complete the ship already mentioned, on a spot thus singularly
situated, and bereaved of National Protection, was cuntemplated by your Memorlalist,
as involving much difficulty, but perseverance could alone securc him from an im-
menge pecuniary sacrifice, and he trusted that, if not benefited by the influence of the
Netherlunds Government, he might implicitly confide in its justice, not occasioning
him to experience moleazation.

Your Memorialist is, however, sorry to state to your Lordship, that kis hopes of
remaining unmolested were far from being realized ; and he had reason from succeeding
events to conclude, that the Netherlands Authorities’ rejection of the option to protect
the place, arose frem a aecret conviction, that your Memorlalist would be drivep by,
the drfliculty of his situation, to an unconditional abandonment; but perceiving that
the necessary intercourse, by mesns of your Memorialist’s shipping, and the inoffensive
conduct of the Nativk Government, rendered it probable that_ your Memorislist might
eontinae to hold the place longer than might have been anticipatedp an active eomity
wha sommenced, apd from the month of December, 1817, until your Memorialist was
compelled to leave Java, he has experienced an unremitted and most vexatious perse-
cution from his Nethetland Majesty’s Indian Government,

To convey wmarine stgres, ulncy and supplies from Javs, requized a.llinﬂ the con-



460

stant empleyment of & mwall vessel, which your Memorialist purchased and set apart
for that object. ‘This vessel was orderad for delznre withont any cause assigned, and
your Memorlalist having supplied its plac: by another, it lkewise was put under
arresty frgi that period one or other of your MemoriaHst's ships was always under
seisure without auy cause assigned. Of one of these small vessels. your Memesfidist
has been entirely deprived, and it is impossible for him to sppreciate the vexation,
troubde and loss which he haw sustained from the interruptions in his affairs, oocasioned
by these detentions.

Your Memorialist’s ship-building establishment was so situated, that it'required to
obtain its previsions, either by sea, or by purchase of the interlor inhabitants of the
Island ; and when it is considered that these interruptions of maritime supply were
contemporaneous with certain regulations of the Dutch Residency at Banjam:asln,
interdicting inland communication, your Memorialist could not but conjecture, that &
design was regularly formed to produce the destruction. or disastrous dispersion of his

tablishment,  For accidents frustrated the plan, and by substituting one
vessel rapldly for another, the support of the place and completion of the ship were
ccomplished.

Nor was the interruption of "his vessels the only grievance which your Memorialist
endured, he was with circumstances the most affronting, and withrut any slledged
cause, placed under a species of arrest, and confined to Batavia, at a time when his
private affairs urgently called him to another part of the Island. His Brother, who
‘was connected with him in business, was about the same time likewise placed under '
arrest, equally without cause, when he was urgently desirous of taking his passage for
Europe.

Yeour Memorialist, during the vexatious proceedings, made numerous applications
ta the Netherlands Government for redress, or an explanation of the cause, bat his
applications were treated with haughty neglect, or only obtained the most unsatis«
factory and ambiguous replies. At last the object of these oppressive acts which your
Memorialist long suspected, was openly disclosed, and your Memorialiat received a
verbal notice to remove his establishment from Borneo. Your Memorialist replied,
that against the decrees of power he could only protest, but thatas his property, to &
large amount wocld be irvolved in the event, he required a written requisition of the
Government to that effect. This was succeeded by a period of silence, and your
DMemorialist remained in a state of the utmost anxiety ; apprehensive that every day
would produce intelligence of some violent proceedings destructive of his property, if
not involving some more serious consequences.

About this time, Sir Thomas Stamford Raffles arrived at Fort Marlborough, and
yult Memarialists state of anxiety, induced him to write to that Gentleman officially,
as the nearest British Authority, reciting his various grievances, and intreating him to
interfere in his behalf. Your Memorialist is of opinion, that the Landed Property vn
Borneo, to which he corceives he has ‘an indisputable right, from its situation and
cupabilities, might be valuable as & national possession 3 dnd, therefore, in this letter
to Sir Thomss Stamford Raffles, your Memorialist requested him to forward to his
Majesty’s Ministers, a tender of all his rights in the land. This letter is almost the
only communication, public or private, which he had with Sir Thomas Stamford

Raffles aften the ‘return of that Gentleman from Eui¥pe, and during your Memo-.
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riskiec's vesidonce on Java, Whalher Sir Themas Stamford Raffies forwarieg m to
the proper Authorities in Europe, your Memorialist is ignorant, but has reason:
to believe some communication on the aubject was madg to the Netherlands
Authorities ; which, perhaps, produced the succeeding events. Soon after thia, your
Memvarjelist received intelligence, that & Military expedition had taken formal posses.
sion of the lands and all your Memorialist's property thereon, in the name of his
Majeaty the King of the Netherlands. Against this act your Memorialist’s Agent
publicly protested, maintaining your Memorialist's rights,

Your Memorlalist might naturally bave coucluded, when the object of jealousy
was removed, that his injuries would cease, but on the contrary, fhey continued with-
out intermigsion. One of his ships, called the Belsy, was without any cause assigned,
decatned® four months in the harbour of Batavia, and interdicted communication
with the shore, until the cargo was materially injured. His new ship the Borneo,
before alluded to as building, which had now reached Java, and wag proceeding to take
her cargo for Europe, was likewise placed four months under detention, His
schoener, called the Moluko, experienced similar interruptions; and another schooner,
called the Elizabcth, had at this period been about nine months rotting under seizure
without assigned cause, at an eastern port of the Island.

Your Memorialist gndeavoured repeatedly on these, as on former occasions, in the
most respectful manner, to call the attention of the Netherland Anthorities to these
unprecedented proceedings, under the full conviction that they arose rather from the
abuse of official subordinates, than from the specific direction of superiors; but could
never obtain the slightest notice to his appeals, and when the ships were released, no
acknowledgement of error, or explanatory vindication of these detentions was made,

New Port and Alicn Regulations were enacted, which in various ways materially
affected the personal immunities and interests of the British inhabitants of Java, and
at once excluded from the coasting trade of the Island, every ship bearing a British
flag. How far regulaiions, so much altering the value of property belonging to British
inhabitants,—restgicting their facilities of Commerce, and levying such heavy duties on
their Imports, previous to the termination of the six yeurs nnmolested residence,
guaranteed to the British inhabitants—were consistent with the terms of ihe Treaty,
or the reciprocal conduct of the British to the Dutch, under similar circumatances in
ceded Colonies, your Memorialist cannot presume to decide ; but your Memorialist
suffered most severely by the enactment of these regulations, having, by their
operation, had the vessels before mentioned, completely thrown out of employment.
To enjoy the free trade of the Coast, required to bear the Netherland colours,
and nope but Dutch Citizens could own Dutch ships, Many of your Memo-
rialist's Countrymen in this dilemma, and to avoid the other restrictions of ¢
the repulations respecting Aliens, soliciced letters of Citizenship; but when your
Memorialist stated his grievances, and hambly solicited to be so qual!‘ﬂed, OB to enjoy
some relaxation of the reghlations in favour of his ships, he rqeeived after a long
silence, a peremptory order, dated on the 4th of March, 1819, long bffore the ex~
piration of the six years guaranteed by the Treaty, to leave the Island of Java, and
all the Indian Colonies of his M:jesty the King of the Netherlands, in six momhbs

from the date of the orger.
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Withthissoandate, in sheolute vielation of the lather and spirit of the convention of
Paace, your Memorialist was compelled to camply. He was driven abruptly from his
aifylrs ; forced to leave debts unrecovered to a large amount ; ships in the menpge-
auenp of others ; hmnd land in Javs and Malacca unseld ; acceunts unseftied,

- ah Commercial property of various descriptiens scattered on the Island. JHewas
-obliged to remove to the Settlement of the Cape of Good Hope with his domestic
establishment at a greatexpense ; and relinquish entirely, or trust to, the hasardous
wompletion of Agents, numerous mercantile engagements from which he Lad every
reasdn to anticipate advantage. Your Memorialist declares that his losses in conse-
qmdlﬂlwudem, have been already wery great, and he is wny to saYy
be-cannot yet appreciate what may be their probable extent.

Your Memorialist was perfectly unconnected with public affaism, He can mest
pelemnly assure your Loxdships, that be neither dizectly nor indirectly interfered in
the politcst affairs of Java, and the other Dutch Cgloniel after they had been trans-
ferved to his Mlajesty the King of the Netherlands. His prospect of ohtaining atten.
tian o the value rf a settlement on the Coast of Borneo, beeoming almost hopeless, he
becatoe anxiously intent on terminating his undertakings there, and withdrawing his
property from that Island ; and therefore endeavoured, by every means in his power, to
avoid any acts or appearances which could be considered obnoxjous to the ruliug Go-
vernment, to whom he was sincerely well affected, and whose favourable regards he
was anxiously inclined to conciliate. For the truth of this assurance he can with con-
fidence appeal to every British inhabitant on the Island of Java.

The remarkable cunduct of the Commissioners of his Majesty the King of the
Netherlands, and Governor-General at Batavis, which has occasioned your Memo-
vinlist these very serious causes of complaint, may be attributed, perbaps, to mistaken
impressions ; but impressions so extremely inexcusable from being mnsupported by
any single instance of the smallost culpability on the part of your Mewmorialist, that
enly jenlous minds, seeking confirmation of suspicion in"the surmises of sycophant
espionage, would have been induced to indulge.

From rumours of your Memorialist’s former habits of imlm.u:y with Sir Thomas
Stamford Raflles, together with his remaining possessed of land on Borneo, sfter the
British Goovernment had retired, which they might suspect would at some future period
become an object of national adoption ;—from an excessive jealousy arising from the
disputable public precesdings with the Mulay States, in which their avidity for Com-
mexcial monopoly had rashly engeged them, and ultimately from the consciousness of
having inflicted causelessly such a series of injuries as must make your Memoclalist
zesentfully eppellant, & spirit was produced agamnst your Memorialist, vindictive and
imprudently passionate.

About the time that this erroneously vindictive spirit was at its extreme, the Baron
Vander Capelian had written to the Bepgal Government, virulently complaining
against 8ir Thomas Stamford Raffles and your Memorialisy, as his secret emissary for
uodermining the Government, through your Memerialisi's supposed connections in
the native States, with whom its judicieus Policy had been invelving it la elircum-
stances of difficulty. These charges are of so licentious @ nature, 50 injurious to your
Memorialist’s interests, and so entirely unfounded, 4s to entitle him to indemnifieation,
even tfhe had o other cause of complaint; but ¢y mischuef :.ius could be effected by
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mmlitious tepresentations, is bt trivisl w0 the series of absolute losses which the
wuthorities of bis Majesty, the King of the Netherlands have oceasionsd to your
Memoriatist,

Bir Thomas Stamford Haffles was called upon for explanation by the Marqols of
Fasting's Government, and clrcumstances accidentally rendered the whole accusation
«0 entirely refutable, both by him and your Memorialist, to the perception of that
Government, that satisfactory documents are on their way home, which must com-
plotely exposo the groundlessness of auch an aspersion ; and your Memorialist trusts
Wis Lordship will also communicate his sentiments with regard to your Memorialist,
and the circumsiances which have undeservedly involved him i= such & persecution,

Every aotion that the Nethetlands Calonial Authorities appear to have entertained,
orto hive divuiged regarding your Memorialist, has been absurdly ervoneous;, and the
evidence of his entire innocence of any act that oceuld justify provocation, or even of
the holding sentiments which cogld be deemed offensive, is so perfect, that he eatnestly
requests of your Lordships, if, when pressed by this appeal, any more of their baseless
surmises are brought forth to palliate feolish errors by recoursesto Hbellous imputa«
tion, it may not be passed over in silence, but fully communicated to your Memorialist
shrough his Agents, as the complete exposure of fictitious alander cannot, it is to be
hoped, be difficulty

Your Memorialist conceives that the two articles in the Treaty of Peace, which his
Majesty’s Ministers wisely provided for the security of the Bratish subjects and their
property on Java, have been both Hagrantly violated in the injuries he has received 3
and a8 such, that your Lordships would pot have deemed your Memorialist to per-
form his duty, had he not made known his complaints.

But it is not only the Trealy of Peace which has been violated in the acts agalnst
which he appeals, but the g lly received principles on which nations at amity are
governed in their reciprocal conduct towards the subjects of each other. If the ships
of your Memorialist had infringed any regulation established on Java, your Memo-
rialist conceivems he had a right to have had the act well established before & legal tri-
bunal. Bat the ships of your Memorialist have suffered detention and seizure with-~
out any legal adjudication whatever; and therefore, your Memorishst confidently
trusts that your Lordships will not by inattention to his appeal, countenance conduct
inconsistent with Commercial security.

Your Memorialist in soliciting your Lordships to procure him Indemnification from
the Government of his Majesty the King of the Netherlands, for the injuries he bhas
received as & British Commercial inhabitant of Java, urges bis claim to attention on
grounds common to every British subject who might be so agrieved ; but he likewise
conceives he has peculiar claims to your Lordship’s interference in bis favour *o
obtain indemnification for the Landed Estate on the Island of Borneo, and property
thereon fnvested, which have been contrary to all justice or legitimate pretext, foreibly
taken from him by Ms Netherland Majesty’s Indian Governmegt.

The convention of Peace could not include the surrender to th# Dutch of the
British possession at Banjarmasin, like a dependency of Java; as the Treaty between
the Sultan of Banjarmssin and the British, deprived the latter of any such power, and
it therefore was notattempied “by the British Authorities entrusted with the evacnaa
tion. These Authorities proceeded to terminate their connection with Bmpumnin,
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under, as they represented, such peremptory definfte ordors, as precluded the least
delay in removing the British flag, or censlderation of the invested interests of your
Memorialist, It cannop be supposed thut the intereats ot your Memorialist came
undee the consideration of those who had given them such orders o abandon, or thete
would bave been some authorization to iademnify him, if a sufferer by the public acts.
The Local Commission, however, dechining to take upon itself to award indemnifica-
tion, or to make any proviaional arrangement, cautiously avoided affecting his rights ,
and your Memorialist remained protectively recognized by the British Commission on
its departure, in friendly relation with the Sultan, and for a year and eight months
without being depriveq of his possession by the Dutch.

In an audience which your Memorialist had with their Excellencies, the. Cominis-
sloners Gencral of his Majesty the King of the Netherlands, by recommendation and
permission of the British Java Commissioners, your Memorialist stated fully his rights
In the lands alluded to, and the nature of his investijure there ; expressing his hopes,
that if they inclined to occupy, they would award some equivalent, and if not, that
your Memorlalist tmight remain on an amicable understanding with the adjacent
Dutch Government. They expressed the proposal to be candid and reasonable, and
what occurred at this interview, with their immediately subsequent conduct, was cone
sidered by your Memurialist, as amounting to a rezognition of higgindisputable rights,
and he felt fully assured of his security.

If, therefore, reliance on the early British Authoritics on Java had deluded your
‘Mumorislist into involvements, and the succecding Authoriiies have allowed his
Interests to fall a sacrifice, your Memorialist presumes to hope that his country will
In the event, acknowledge that he did well in preserving the option of sccupation, or
exclusion from the Coest of Borneo, for the calm consideration of those able to take
more extended views of the National Interests. For, it has been seen, he kept posses~
sion from his own resources alone, in spite of desertion, and the jcalous malice pf a
rival power, until there was ample time for the British Government to have bren in-
formed on the question, and sent to relicve him had it thought proper.,

The Netherland Colonfal Government, by a direct viclation of right, has deprived
your Memorialist of the possession of his property ; but he conceives it yet rests with
the Britush Government to sanction the violence, or afford that protective opposition
to it, which, as an aggricved subject, your Memorialist humbly presumes he has a
right to claim.

Your Memorialist, therefore, solicits the interference of your Lordsbips in obtain.
ing indemnification for injuries, with reimbursement of his losses occasioned by the
“Netherlands Government in expences, or investiture since the retirement of the British
®stablishment at Banjarmasin, and adequate to the sacrifices of fortune in various
ways, whicli the p‘msexmion from first to last, has occasioned your Memorialist. He
likewise clalms its present intrinsic value, determined by precedents, and such estima-
tion, as the opinions of impartial judges can satisfactorily furm? or if the Netherlands
Government bé not inclined to retuin, and afford an equivalent, that it be required to
restore the pluce and property thereon to your Memorialist,

Your Memorialist is aware that the policy on which the British establishment was
formed at Banjarmasin, did not meet with that approval by the Superior Authorities
which wa regaigite for producing advantageous refilts ; but your Memoriatist feels
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it his daty, humbly to declare his full convictisn, that the value of that situation te
British Commercc, was not well understood; and that no more eligible position in
those seas, from natural fertility of soil, facility of tranquil dnfluence, proximity to
numerons and important populations, and general Commercial capabilities, could be
selected. The extensive territories which were ceded to the Honourable Company by
the Sultan of Banjarmasin, and thereby become National property, have been
abandoned without equivalent ; but your Memorialist has casually been left the legi-
timate Proprietor of a certain adjacent, ard not inconsiderable portion of territory,
most advantageously situated ; fully adequate for national objects, and now almost the
only spot in those seas to which the Dutch cannot ndvance plauvsible pretensions,

It would upnecessarily swell the length of this Memorial, to enumerate the
various advantages of the district in question ; but it may be proper to remark, that it
is situated 1,500 miles eastward of any other British Settlement ; that it hay navigable
rivers and safe ports; that it inclades the best mining grounds on thae side of Borneo
abounding with gold and diamunds ; and that it is on record, that it formerly annually
produced 30,000 pekuls of the finest pepper.

As & British subject, the rights which an independant Prince has volantarily con-
ferred on your Memorialist, vest by the laws of his country in his Sovereign ; = foreign
nation has assume® them ; but as a British subject, he cannot bhut confidently trust,
that whether the present improper assumption of it be considered a national or in-
dividual injury, the influence of his Sovereign will be exerted in producing indemni-
fication or restitution.

Although obliged tu appeal against the Netherlands Colonial Authorities, your
Memorialist has no doubt that the Government of his Majesty, the King of the
Netherlands, would afford him justice ; but your Lordships will perceive, that the
nature of the case in several respects compels him to trust only to obtaining indemni-
fication through the Ministers of his own Sovereign.

Your Memorialist thought it his duty to draw up his gricvances in form of notarial
protest, and t& transmit it to the Baron Vauder Capellan, Governor-General of
Netherlands India; a copy of this document, and accompanying ltter, your Memo
rialist takes the liberty of attaching to this Memorial, Nos. 1 and 2.

It is with much concern that your Memorialist is prevented fron proceeding to
Europe, to be present when an affair of such moment to him is pending ; but it is one
of the many mischiefs he has suffered by the injurious inteiference of which he has to
complain, that concerns of equal importance to him have been delayed, which require
his visiting Bengal. Your Memorialist's Brother, however, who happens to have been
a witness to all these transactions, returrs to Europe with illustrative documents and
notarial evidence of the several facta, He will be equally adequate to attend, and
elucidate what may be necessary. Your Memorialist, therefore, cpn, if allowed the
opporiunity, both by yerbal and written evidence, prove to the satisfaction of your
Lordship's the truth of all he has herein stated.

Your Memorialist cannot but apprehend, that the Authorities in Europe of his
Majesty the King of the Netberlands, may attempt to justify the conduct of their
Colonial Government, by alleging that your Memorialist was & person disaffected to
their Government, #nd carry.ng on intrigues inimical to it.

Your Memorialist is led to adticipate this from understanding that SiggStamford
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Raffles, when in Bengal, about the esll of 1818, was callod wpon by the Supreme
Government to answer on some violent passagee of accusation by the Baron Vander
Capellan, against him for holding a seditious somnection with your Memorialist; and
that Sir Stamford Raffles wrote in reply, that be had never had any correspondence
with your Memorialist, but that of recelving and transmitting to the Authorities in
Rurope, your Memorialist's proffer of kis lands on Borneo.

Your Memorialist has farther understood, that the Bengal Government wrote to
the Baron Vander Capellan on the above letter ; stating that it had in consequence
called wpon Sir Stamford Raffles who had satisfied them, that he had never had any
correspondence with your Memorialist, except on the occasion above stated.

Your Memotislist has furnished Sir Stamford Raffies, at his reques-, with aq affida-
vit on his part, confirmisig the statement that no communication between them had
taken place ; and your Memorialist submits herewith to your Lordships, documents
farther corroborative uf that point—(See Nos, 3, 4, 3'and 6, of enclosures,)

In concipsion, your Memorialist has earnestly to entreat that your Lordship will be
pleased to give m-urly and favourable consideration to the peculiar hardships of his
case ; ‘axd procure for him restitution of his rights, and such other redress, as your
Lordshipe shall decm adequate to his losses and Injuries.

(Signed)

A. HARE.
June 1, 1821



ENCLOSURE NO. I. TO THE PRECEDING

MEMORIAL.
———— i

Copy of a ProTEsT forwarded from the Cape of Goon Hork, August, 1820, to
the Baron VANDER CAPELLAN, by ALEXANDER HARE.

e ——

PROTEST.

I, ALeXanpER HARE, formerly Commissioner for Borneo,and Resident at Banjar«
masin, for the Hot®urable British East India Company, snd subsequently residing
ou Java, since the restoration of that lsland to his Majesty the King of the Nether-
lands, under Privilege of the Convention of Peace, existing between the British and
Netherland natlons, having sustained a serles of injuries, from his Netherland
Majesty’s Colonial Guvernment of the said Island ; hereby Protest against the follow-
ing acts of their Excellencley the Commissioners General, and the Baron Vander
Capellan, Secretary of State, and Governor-(ieneral of Netherlands India.

I. I Protest against the detention of my schooner called the Moluko, in the harbou
ot Rembang, on the 22d of December, 1817; when she was refused a port clearance,
to proceed according to my orders, until my Agent and another person, had entered
into & Bond toproduce her again should Governmeut require 1t; and I Protest against
the act of exacting that Bond by which she was so released, as biing unprecedented,
and without suffictont cause assigned.

1I. I Protest against the order of his Excellency the Baron Vander Capellan, dated
3lst January, 1818, by which my Brother, Mr, Jor¥ Haxe and Mr. Jory Dixox,
were placed under Civil Arrest; and remamned under such restraint for more than
two months, until their Memorials exposed the unjustifiable nature of the mewwure.
1 Protest against this act, as being entirely without just cause. The only pretext
asaigned, was infraction of the Bond above mentioned, concerning the Moduko, and
this pretext is proved by the mere perusal of that Bond, to have been entirely con.
trary to the truth. I Protest against such act, as being not only upjustifiable in fact,
but contrary to the lawy of the Colony, in the matter not being submitted to the deci-
slon of a legal Court; and directly infringing the article of %he Treaty of Peace
between Briin and the Netherlands by which Englishmen so situsted, are assured
security from molestation in person and property.

IIL. I Protest against the sgbitrary detention of my schooper the Moluko, by order
of the Batavian Goternment, in the harbour of Rembang, from the 11th May, 1818,
until the 15th July, ensuing, When she was released. I Protest againey this, the
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second detention, as having taken place without any cause submitted for legal in-
vestigation, or even distinctly assigned.

IV. 1 Protest againstithe order of the Secvetary of State, and Governor-General
of Netherlands India, dated on ihie 20th Nuvember, 1817 ; by suthority of which, my
schooner Flizabeth was placed under seizuse by a Nethe:lands Government gun brig,
at Banjarmrasin, without any cause estaolished ur even assigned; and afterwards de-
tained under seizure by the Resident of Rembang, from the 12th August, 1818 ; by
which detention, 1 am informed, she has long since becn rendered unscrviceable. I
Protest dgainst the seizure of this vessel, as being arbitrary, and wibout legal adjudi-
cation of the cause ; which, as a British subject, or even inhabitant of Java, I had a
right to expect ; and I maintain myself justificd in not availing of the spéntaneous
commumication of the Java Government of April, 1819, empowering me to reccive
back, as released, the said schooner Elizabeth, after her having been nine months
rotting in charge of the Government Authorities. T therefore Protest against Govern.
ment for the entirs loss of that vesscl ; which I know, on the best authority, to be
immovable, withont“costly repairs, long before this tender of restiiution.

V. I Protest against these several arbitrary detentions of my vessels, the Moluko
and Elizabeih, vot only on account of losing their usual beneficial employ, but as
being déprived of the services for which they were entirely maintataed, that of carry.
ing stores and other supplies to my establishment at Kuraou ; by which peril, ex-
pence and distress, were incurred by my dependents there, and other more expensive
vessels diverted from their employment, to be appropriated as substitutes; all f
which distressing alteruatives have prolonged the period of building the ship Borneo,
and seriously enbanced its charge. The truth of these injuries is fully explained and

tablished by the depositions of my Brother Mr. John Hare, Captain Martin,
and Captain Hull,

VL I Protest against their Excellencies the Netherlands Commissioners, and the
Baron Vander Capcllan, Sceretary of State, and Governor-General of Netherlands
India, for the conduct of the Officers of Government, acting under their authonty at
Banjarmasin, towards my Agents and dependent population, comprising the settlement
of Kuraou, and in whatever way injuring my interests in the lands of Moluko, Laout,
and Lirngangan, as sct forth in the depositions of my said Agents; and I protest
distinetly against the said vexatious corduct, together with that already atated, for
enhancing the cost of supplies, and generally increasing expences in building the ship
Bowneo, .

V1L I Protest against the Netherlands Colonial Government of Java, for assuming
in the year 1816, and subsequently, any authority over the lands and plantations at
and adjacent to Tobanyaou on the Jsland of Borneo.

VIIL I confirm, and hereby most salemnly declare, as approved, and rquivalent to
my own act'and deed, the Protest made and delivered by my Agent, Mr, J. C Ross,
to the Resident of Basjarmasin, for transmission to his Gs;wemmcnt, against the
forcible capture'and occupation of my lands on the lslani of Borneo, denominated the
lands of Moluko, Laout, and Liangangan, with the seizure of all my property thercon ;
and 1 hold them responsible, not only for the loss of sugh lands and property, but for
all the injurics to my rights, and all the consequent Iosses from Investiture or Expen-
diture, both before and sinee. which have tn me therefcom acerued.
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Y Protest against the said act of violence asin itself an unjustifiable aggression ;
but, I Protest against it also, for the increased loss and injury unnecessarily occasioned
from no intimation on the subject haviug been notified, during the time that the
British Authorities remained at Bataviz, adjusting unsettjgd points, with their Exe
cellencies, for ten months subsequent to the establishment of the Netherlands Autho.
rity at Banjarmasin ; and when their Excellencies, from thc most indubitable sources
of intelligence, ust have clearly known my situation and claims. My establishment
in independence, was in the presence of both the Netherlands and British Commis.
sloners on the spot ; the latter assisting iy Agents by selling them the arms which
wera'to protect my said property ; aund the former, while equnrocally refusing a pro~
fessed copditional occupation, not asserting any pret.ensmn to an unconditional
lurremlm'.

By this vexatious silence of their Excellencies in not notifying objections, if suck
were then entertained, to my pubhc]y asserted rights, I was induced to proceed in the
building of a ship, rendered, from its situation, under the change of affairs, unumally
costly ; and also induced to sink espences on the improvement of s place, which, had
their Excellencies assumed, or declared their right to assume at that tme, would bave
assured me the mediation of the British Authoritics. But, on the contiary, fifieen
months aftex the formation of my establishment, when left without any Government
protection, to which formation of an establishment, the refusal of the Netherlands
Local Authorities to afford protection bad obliged me, and ten months of which time
the British Competent Authorities had remaincd in Batavia,—their Excellencies the
Netherlands Commissioners General, received written communications frnm me, of
my distinct maintenance of right of possession, indcpendent of any European
Soverelgnty but that to which I am naturally subject; and they, themselves, trans.
mitted to my Agent at Kuraou, an open letter of instructions exacted from me by
them, in which I clearly and specifically reserved the integrity of those rights. Three
months after their obtaining that letter, an intimation was made to me by their
Excellencies’ express direction, threatening to require the removal of my establish-
ment ; and on my answer, declaring my intention to have reconrse to Protest in casc
of any such interference, the threat was explained away, by cquivocalion, and ap«
parently rcceded from. A period of silence again elapsed, and then, twenty-two
months after the formation of my establishment, and when I had been rapidly,
duting the whole period, involving deeper and decper my property, personal interest,
and exertions in the improvement of a place, which circumstances now shew, I hagd
= right to edpect, would prove ultimately of most impertant realizable value, I am
forcibly bereaved of it, by military seizure, at a time of national peace, and presumed
cordial amity ; when a subject, peacefully situated in neutral territary, being in all
situations, amenable to the supreme Government of his own country, has & right, ute
der a decision of that Government, to remain. unmolested by any “smicable power
whatever; and, I therefore Protest agains sny acts of military fgree affecting myself
wsa British subject, before such reference had taken place, as an act of @nwarrantable
bostility ageinst my Sovereign, whose right it is to be consulted, and whose parental
duty and practice it i3, to allow ng injustice or violence to be dome to his subjects,
bowever remotely situated, by the arbitrary acts of the subordinate authoritiey of
another Power.
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1 farther Protost, and declare sgainst tie truth of o1l spolugetical sllegations which
may be mede, that my Agent has Imyproperiy used British Nationsl Colouts, or
otherwise been guilty of any offensive covduct whatever; and I can producs, if re-
quisite, the sworn depmf“pm of himself, and athers, to refute any such representac
tiops, I declare, from my own personal knewledge of the Sultan of Banjarmasin’s
sentiments, interests, and rooted feelings, and from the testimony of my Agents, wha
have enjoyed later opportuniues of observatjon, that any pretence which has, or way
be made of his Highness having spontaneously coincided in the aforesaid Netherlands
assumiption, must be contemptible fabrication,—~the opinions of his Highness, to my
knowledge, being decidedly incompatible with real concurrence in any point of ine
texest whatever, with the Authorities to which he finds himself at present subjected.

1X. J Protest against his Excellency the Governor-General of Nethzrlandr India,
for the yestriction of my personal freedom, by an order which was in force several
montbs In the year 1818, preventing my departure from Batavia; and for which,
though repeatedly solicited, no reason was ever aa;igned. Contemptuour exclusion
from personal accees, and silence to written applications, rendered this extraordinary
imprisonment & state of insult, and distressing apprehension. The order complained
of was aggravating from its affronting publicity, and its humiliating disregard to
proper-observances. It was announced to me in the evening by, abrupt stoppage at
the water side, after my baggage had been sent off ;—the ship by which I had en
gaged my passage being to sail during the night, and after my name as an intended
passenger had been regularly reported to Government through the usual officer, alx
days before. It was likewise unnecessarily degrading 1n ite execution, from the
peculiar vigilance having been adopted, of an embargo being placed on all boats un*il
inspected, I Protest against this act of his Excellency the Governor-General, anl
for all the injurious consequences to my affairs from this detention at Batavia, pro-
longed likewise, and rendered peculiarly irksome, by the requisite attendance, during
pending applications, occasioned by my vesscls being constantly under detention, and
in endeavouring to rectify or prevent the mischiefs thereby occasioned,,

X. I Protest against the arreat, or as it was officially termed ¢ sequestration,” and
ruinous interdiction of Intercourse with the shore, to which my ship the Betsy was
subject, from the beginning of December, 1818, to the middle of April, 1819 3 with
all the Josses and injurious consequences both to ship and cargo, accruing therefrom 3
as are fully sul iated by the deposition and p of Andrew Roy, the Com-
mander of the said ship, and of my Brother, Mr. John Hare, and other persons,
together with the Correspondence between the Officers of Government ‘and myself
thereon. I Protest against this act, as upon investigation by the Port Officers, it
was scknowledged that no reason could be discovered ; and the ship was arcordingly
zeleased without any being assigned.

XI. X Protest against the Authorities of the Netherlands Government at Sourabays,
in pot divulging to¢the Commanders of my ships, the Bornko and schooner Moluko,
on their arvival there, in the month of January, 1819, that there was an order of
Government existing, which, it was afterwaids stated, had been sometime previously
received at that Port, for the detention of the said vessels. Owing to this neglect of
imparting the information immediately on arrival, the Commender of the former in.
curred {Fxpences, which he otherwise would not, (or effecting the passage to Batavis,
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as explained in his deposition and protest, by & route unnecessary, a little later in the
season’; and which more expensive equipment was rendered futlle, by his being after..
wards, wheh ready for sea, refased permission to sail, until answer to a reference coald
be obtained from Batavia.

XIIL 1 Protest against the Datavian Government for any order of detention agatunt
the Horneo or Afoluko, which, according to the said Port Officer of Sourabaya,
had been received there, and on which the said vessels experienced demurrage. 1
FProtest against such order, as entirely without legitimate cause, or reasons possible to
imagine.

XIIL T farther Protest agalnst his Excellency the Bargn Vander Capellan,
Secretary of State, and Governor-General of Netherlands India, that after my said
ship thé*Borneo hud been released at Sourabaya, and arrived at Batavis, she was
kept three months in the harbour unable to leave, and under such unceriainty, that
1o eugdgements, or preparatory argangements, could be formed foi. her employment ;
as Government during all that time, kept the papers of the said ship, viz. a regular
British Plantation Pass, &c. submitted merely for inspection, wifhout any reasons
being assigned, or reply being made, to applications for their return. T Protest
against this detention of the ship Borneo, and I hold the said Government responsible
for the heavy demurrgge thus incurred.

XIV. I Protest ageinst their Excellencics the said Commissioners General, for
having instituted Port rcgulations, preventing the employment of my vesscls,
hitherto deriving their maintenance and gains in the coasting trade of that colony
slone. By excluding them sbruptly from that employment, for which and no other I
possessed them, only one of them, and that eight years before, having ever been out of
the colonial, or adjacent seas, until these abrupt regulations were promulgated, and
the whole having been ever since, even when at liberty from the other oppressive acts
of Government, the arrests and detentions to which I have before alluded, guite out
of my power to employ in any other trade. I therefore Protest against the losses of*
being compelled®o transfer some by disadvautageous sales, subject to dutles and
charges, and the demurrage consequent on effecting such sales; whilst, from being
unable to sell one of them, or get her employment under the new restrictions, she has
long been completcly idle. I also Protest against their being excluded from the
peculiar advantages which have accrued at this juncture, to vessels enjoying a free
Coasting Trade, by the late increased demand for Colonial tonnage.

T Protest against these regulations as direct injury to the property of a Britfsh
subject, for which no exception was by Treaty provided ; and for evading which, my
humble proposal of soliciting to be qualified for holding vessels with Netherlands
Colours, previous to the expiration of the term in which I am by right of National
T'reaty entitled to the same privileges as naturalized Citizens, or at lgast to cnjoy my
property under the same advantages as before the Treaty, was refused ; and ‘1 equally
Protest against afly newly enacted regulations or restrictions, durifig the term secured
to British subjects by the said Treaty, affecting my personal freedom in any respect,
by the least distinction in privilege between those enjoyed by British subjects re.
maining entitled from previous residence in Java, and those enjoyed by Netherlands
subjects.
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XV. 1 Protest against the Governing Authoritles of Netherlands India for the
direct violation of the Sixth Article of the Treaty of Peace, between Great Britain
and the Netberlands ;, which, since the year 1817, they have never ceased to com-
mit, by a continued oppressively distressiig conduct towards me; ever alarming to
personal security from the jealousy by which it appesred to be actuated, and the
violence of which there were indications of its being capable ; terrifying by the
assumption of a pride, above assigning reasons, cautiously evasive of documentary
commitment, slightingly or intentionally dilatory to application and vexatious,
frivolous, and baseless, in all its attempted pretexts. The persecution against which
1 now Protest, had its soavce alone in vindictive personal jealousy, and was nurtured
by an ignorance suspicious of evil disposition, in the subjects of & power, from whom
the uneonscious sincere servants of friendly allies, bad no fair grounds for fuch un-
generous spprehensions ; and the injuries I have suffered, and against which I now
Protest, are, I presyme, clearly designated by the at.-tic!e of the Treaty which secures
the British subject from persecution for attachments, connection, or political
sentiments, .

XVI. I complain of having suffered injuries from a malicious but cowardly splrit,
which hesitated long on the violation of attacking one main object of its jealousy, and
adopted the indirect course of annoyance on other pretences ; digtracting me so con=
thnally with subjects for complaint and apprehension, that the attention requisite to
secure my private affairs from injury, much less embrace the opportunities which
have daily offered for improving them, has been entirely out of my power; and the
accomplishment of one most material object, a duty to myself and the British Governa
ment, materially affecting my forture, has been greatly impeded by the incessant
harrassing applications to the Batavian Government, ‘and the before-mentioned actual
detention, never allowing me satisfactorily to retmin from Batavia, to my home at
Rembang, or travel to different parts of Juva ; much less revisit Banjarmasin as T in-
tended, and as was requisite for my intcrests. As a servant of the late British Go-
vernment of Java, left with a duty to perform in which my interests owere importantly
concerned, being the completion of accounts of claims for certain indemnification ta
e allowed me, from the hiurnied circumistances under which the British Establishment
at Banjarmasin was withdrawn,—I Protest agamnst the vexatious conduct of their
Excellencies, that has so embarrassed my wind, engrossed my time, and restricted my
liberty, as almost entirety to frustrate my attempts at the due execution of this essen-
tial task ; and I declare them justly liable for all the losses which have been, or msy
be incident from this, and the other injuries which I have suffered,

XVIL I Protest against the conduct of the Batavisn Government, for daring to
represent me to the Supreme British Authority in India, as a disaffected peraon w0
the Government of his Majesty the Kiug of the Netherlands; and as carrying on
corvespondence with a person high In British Authority, for purposes inimical to the
interests of the Nesherlands Colonies. I Protest against this conduct as founded
entirely in falsehood, and not only highly discreditable to the character of myself as s
British subject, but equally to the justly distinguished and honourable individual, who
was jmplicated with me in the accusation.

XVIIL Finally, I Protest against his Excellency the Bugon Vander Capellan,




53
Secretary of State and Governor-General of Netherlands India, for his order of the
4th March, 1819, expelling me from Java, and forbidding my residence at any of his
Netherlands Majesty’s settlements in India.

I Protest against it as an inhabitant who had been eightcen years domiciled in the
Colonies; possessing Frechold Property and Dependencies, both at Malacca, and on
Java, with debts due to me to & large amount not immediately extricable; and con-
siderable funds invested 1n trading property, which, together with fty remaining
shipping, could, under such circumstanccs, ouly be left entrusted to the care of Agents.

I Protest against it as a British merchant engaged with my connections in Eng-
land, o ay established commerce to and from Batavia; whifh the security of my
personab superintendance was requisite to render eligible, and which my sudden de-
parture must naturally tend much to discourage, if not terminate ; commanding
means, from my long establishment and connections, of employing capital in the ad-
vantageous trade in produce, which the Colony of Java happened prc-erniuemly to offir
to any individual so circumstanced.

1 conscientiously declare myself unable to specify here, all the p:ohahlc ramifica-
tions of mwischief which 1 may reasonably apprchend from the oppression against
which I pow Protest. To be frustrated in my varivus plans, and compulsively
driven from my intentions, is the least of the evil. None but those intimately ac-
quainted can accurately conjecture the extent of the losses to which I am thus un.
justly and unoffendingly exposed. The commercinl society of Batavia, can, howa
ever, confirm the truth of my sacrifices, and the comaercial world in general their
probability. The merchant who knows the tedious personal assiduity required to
settle ndvantageously commercidl accounts, may conceive the injury of biing suddenly
torn from such affuirs, and the ship-owncr, who has endured the incalculable evil of
shipping demurrage, may appreciate generally, the severity of that part of the perses
cution I have experienced.

Not only thergfore, on my own individual account, but as a duty to the commercial.
community of my courtry, who, from residence in a [oreipn Colony may be exposed
to similar treatment, I deem it proper to make this formal Protest against a series of

cts, the recurrence of which, 1 conceive it is essential to the reciprocal personal secu.
rity requisite for the beneficial intercourse of nations at amity to prevent in future.

At Batavia, the 4th day of September, 1819,

(Signed)

A. HARE.



